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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the Company, (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as the Operating Partnership, (3) the
Company s common stock as Common Stock, (4) the Company s preferred stock as Preferred Stock, (5) the Operating Partnership s common
partnership interests as Common Units, (6) the Operating Partnership s preferred partnership interests as Preferred Units and (7) in-service
properties (excluding apartment units) to which the Company has title and all of the ownership rights as the Wholly Owned Properties.

The information furnished in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) that are, in our opinion, necessary for a fair presentation of the aforementioned financial statements for the interim period.

The aforementioned financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Risk Factors included herein and in our 2005 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets:

Real estate assets, at cost:

Land

Buildings and tenant improvements
Development in process

Land held for development
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

Net real estate assets

Real estate and other assets, net, held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net

Notes receivable, net

Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net
Prepaid expenses and other

Total Assets

Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockholders Equity:
Mortgages and notes payable

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Financing obligations

Total Liabilities

Minority interest

Stockholders Equity:

Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 authorized shares; 8 5/8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares (liquidation preference $1,000 per share), 104,945 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005

8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares (liquidation preference $25 per share), 3,700,000
and 5,700,000 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authorized shares; 55,635,448 and 54,028,507 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Distributions in excess of net earnings

Deferred compensation restricted stock and stock options

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total Stockholders Equity

Total Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockholders Equity

September 30,
2006

$ 3474206
2,567,469
80,943
118,036
23,706

3,137,580
(606,633)

2,530,947
46,952
7,524
2,138
21,759
8,125
67,081
61,795
65,085
16,300

$ 2,827,706

$ 1,461,105
141,718
36,098

1,638,921
84,252

104,945
92,500
556
1,442,759
(534,546)
(1,681)
1,104,533

$ 2,827,706

December 31,
2005

$ 341,509
2,510,968
19,434
134,844
22,467

3,029,222
(561,558)

2,467,664
187,770
1,212
16,223
24,201
9,232
60,729
69,247
59,374
13,326

$ 2,908,978

$ 1,471,616
127,455
34,154

1,633,225
94,134

104,945
142,500
540
1,419,683
(479,901)
(3,936)
(2,212)
1,181,619

$ 2,908,978
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See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of assets held for use
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Interest expense:

Contractual

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Financing obligations

Other income/(expense):
Interest and other income
Loss on debt extinguishment

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Income

Income/(loss) before disposition of property, minority interest and equity in earnings

of unconsolidated affiliates

Gains on disposition of property
Minority interest

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest
Net gains and (impairments) on sales of discontinued operations, net of minority interest,
including gain from related party transactions of $4,816 in the nine months ended

September 30, 2005

Net income
Dividends on Preferred Stock

Excess of Preferred Stock redemption cost over carrying value

Net income available for common stockholders

Net income per common share  basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005
$ 106,291 $ 100,051
40,086 37,005
29,056 27,666
2,600 4,415
8,546 7,513
80,288 76,599
23,809 24,239
557 823
850 1,073
25,216 26,135
1,189 2,119
(323)
1,189 1,796
1,976 (887)
2,977 9,693
292) 63
1,342 2,060
6,003 10,929
311 1,800
2,595 10,142
2,906 11,942
8,909 22,871
4,113) (6,699)
4,272)
$ 479 $ 11,900
$ 004 $
0.05 0.22

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005
$313,933 $ 300,970
114,592 105,456
86,565 84,350
2,600 7,587
26,298 23,859
230,055 221,252
71,855 74,032
1,883 2,508
3,190 4,118
76,928 80,658
4,336 5,453
467) (453)
3,869 5,000
10,819 4,060
8,295 11,479
(1,272) 398
5,349 6,964
23,191 22,901
1,499 7,693
4,638 24,865
6,137 32,558
29,328 55,459
(12,950) (22,125)
(1,803) 4,272)
$ 14,575 $ 29,062
$ 016 $ (0.07)
0.11 0.61
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Net income $ 0.09
Weighted average common shares outstanding  basic 54,470

Net income per common share diluted:

Income/(loss) from continuing operations $ 0.04
Income from discontinued operations 0.05
Net income $ 0.09
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 61,457
Dividends declared per common share $ 0425

$ 022
53,768

$
0.22
$ 022
53,768
$ 0425

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

$ 027
54,069

$ 015
0.11

$ 026
60,786

$ 1.275

$ 054
53,725

$  (0.07)
0.61
$ 054
53,725
$ 1.275
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Balance at

December 31, 2005
Reversal of unvested
deferred compensation as a
result of the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R)

Issuance of Common Stock,
net

Conversion of warrants to
shares

Common Stock dividends
Preferred Stock dividends
Adjustment to minority
interest of unitholders in the
Operating Partnership
Issuance of restricted stock,
net

Redemption of Preferred
Stock

Amortization of restricted
stock and stock options
Other comprehensive
income

Net income

Balance at
September 30, 2006

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders Equity
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Distributions
Additional Accumulated In Excess
Number of Other
Common Common Series A  Series B Paid-In Deferred Compre- hensive of Net
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Capital Compen- sation  Loss Earnings

54,028,507 $ 540 $104,945 $142,500 $1,419,683 $ (3,936) $ (2,212) $ (479,901)

(3,936) 3,936

1,464,784 15 30,802
16,407
(69,220)
(12,950)
(8,525)
125,750
(50,000) 1,803 (1,803)
1 2,932
531
29,328
55,635,448 $ 556 $104,945 $ 92,500 $ 1,442,759 $ $  (1,681) $ (534,546)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Total

$ 1,181,619

30,817

(69,220)
(12,950)

(8,525)

(50,000)

2,933

531
29,328

$ 1,104,533
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Net income

(Unaudited and in thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of lease incentives

Impairment of assets held for use

Amortization of stock-based compensation
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive loss
Loss on debt extinguishments

Net (gains) and impairments on disposition of property
Minority interest

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Change in financing obligations

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated affiliates
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate assets and deferred leasing costs
Proceeds from disposition of real estate assets
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated affiliates
Net repayments in notes receivable

Contributions to unconsolidated affiliates

Cash assumed upon consolidation of unconsolidated affiliate

Other investing activities
Net cash provided by investing activities

Financing activities:

Dividends and distributions paid on Common Stock and Common Units

Redemption of Preferred Stock
Dividends paid on Preferred Stock

Distributions of earnings to minority partner in consolidated affiliate

Net proceeds from the sale of Common Stock
Repurchase of Common Units

Borrowings on revolving credit facilities
Repayments of revolving credit facilities
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payable
Repayments of mortgages and notes payable

Additions to deferred financing costs and other financing activities

Payments on debt extinguishments
Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005
$ 29,328 $ 55,459
87,655 97,336
623 706
2,600 7,587
2,933 1,860
1,883 2,508
531 527
467 453
(13,340) (39,039)
1,828 3,129
(5,349) (6,964)
896 235
5,458 6,431

(6,338) (7,965)

109,175 122,263
(133,539) (122,427)
186,894 342,946

11,204 1,975

1,107 4,228
(100)
645

12,478 108

78,689 226,830
(75,916) (76,216)
(50,000) (130,000)
(12,950) (22,125)

420)

28,203 1,645
(15,369) (10,082)
498,500 109,000

(392,500) (121,000)
28,281

(157,247) (151,793)

(3,853) (384)

(255)

(181,552) (372,929)

6,312 (23,836)

10
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Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 1,212
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 7,524

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized (excludes cash distributions to owners of sold properties
accounted for as financings of $1,283 and $2,862 for 2006 and 2005, respectively) $ 69,810

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

24,482
$ 646
$ 73,174

11
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued

(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

The following table summarizes the net asset acquisitions and dispositions subject to mortgage notes payable and other non-cash transactions:

Assets:

Net real estate assets
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable

Accrued straight-line rents receivable
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net

Prepaid and other

Liabilities:

Mortgages and notes payable

Accounts payable accrued expenses and other liabilities

Financing obligation

Minority Interest and Stockholders Equity

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005

$ 44512 $(23,985)

(1,865)
102 10
962 (434)
(1,938) 1,553
287 61)

(268)

$ 42,060 $(23,185)

40,736 4,019
(1,652) 9,777
1,048 (30,218)

$40,132  $(16,422)

$ 1,928 § (6,763)

12
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2006
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
1. DEscriPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicIES
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the Company ), is a fully-integrated, self-administered and self-managed
equity real estate investment trust ( REIT ) that operates in the southeastern and midwestern United States. As of September 30, 2006, the
Company s wholly owned assets included: 344 in-service office, industrial and retail properties; 96 apartment units; 798 acres of undeveloped
land suitable for future development, of which 394 acres are considered core holdings; and an additional 15 properties under development.

The Company conducts substantially all of its activities through, and substantially all of its interests in the properties are held directly or
indirectly by, Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership (the Operating Partnership ). The Company is the sole general partner of the Operating
Partnership. At September 30, 2006, the Company owned all of the preferred partnership interests (  Preferred Units ) and 91.7% of the common
partnership interests ( Common Units ) in the Operating Partnership. Limited partners (including certain officers and directors of the Company)
own the remaining Common Units. Each Common Unit is redeemable for the cash value of one share of the Company s common stock, $.01 par
value (the Common Stock ), or, at the Company s option, one share of Common Stock. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the
Company redeemed 436,038 Common Units from limited partners for approximately $15.4 million in cash. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2006, as required by the terms of the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, the Operating Partnership issued
approximately 1.5 million additional Common Units to the Company simultaneously upon the Company s issuance of a like number of shares of
Common Stock in connection with restricted stock awards, purchases under the Company s employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of
stock options and warrants. As a result of the foregoing, the percentage of Common Units owned by the Company increased to 91.7% at
September 30, 2006 from 90.8% at December 31, 2005. Preferred Units in the Operating Partnership were issued to the Company in connection
with the Company s preferred stock offerings in 1997 and 1998 (the Preferred Stock ). The net proceeds raised from each of the Preferred Stock
issuances were contributed by the Company to the Operating Partnership in exchange for the Preferred Units. The terms of each series of
Preferred Units generally parallel the terms of the respective Preferred Stock as to dividends, liquidation and redemption rights.

Basis of Presentation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles ( GAAP ). As more fully described in Note 10, as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, ( SFAS No. 144 ), the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005 and the
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 were revised from previously reported amounts to
reflect in real estate and other assets held for sale and in discontinued operations the assets and operations for those properties sold or held for

sale in the first nine months of 2006 which qualified for discontinued operations.

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the Operating Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries and those subsidiaries in which
the Company owns a majority voting interest with the ability to control operations of the subsidiaries and where no substantive participating
rights or substantive kick out rights have been granted to the minority interest holders. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 04-5, Determining
Whether a General Partner or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have
Certain Rights, the Company consolidates partnerships, joint ventures and limited liability companies when the Company controls the major
operating and financial policies of the entity through majority ownership or in its capacity as general partner or managing member. In addition,
the Company consolidates those entities, if any, where the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary in a variable interest entity (as
defined by FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities ( FIN 46(R) )). All significant
intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

13
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. DEscripTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued

The Company has elected and expects to continue to qualify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the Code ). As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to federal or state income taxes on its net income that it distributes
to stockholders. Continued qualification as a REIT depends on the Company s ability to satisfy the dividend distribution tests, stock ownership
requirements and various other qualification tests prescribed in the Code. The Company conducts certain business activities through a taxable
REIT subsidiary, as permitted under the Code. The taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to federal and state income taxes on its net taxable income
and the Company records provisions for such taxes, to the extent required, based on its income recognized for financial statement purposes,
including the effects of temporary differences between such income and the amount recognized for tax purposes. Through September 30, 2006,
the taxable REIT subsidiary has not paid income taxes and has cumulative net taxable losses of approximately $3.1 million. Because the future
tax benefit of the cumulative losses is not assured, the approximate $1.2 million related deferred tax asset has been fully reserved as management
does not believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be recognized and no tax benefit has been recognized in the
accompanying financial statements. The tax benefit of the cumulative losses could be recognized for financial reporting purposes in future
periods if the taxable REIT subsidiary generates sufficient taxable income.

The accompanying unaudited financial information, in the opinion of management, contains all adjustments (including normal recurring

accruals) necessary for a fair presentation of the Company s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The Company has condensed
or omitted certain notes and other information from the interim financial statements presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. These
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Minority Interest

Minority interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements relates primarily to the Common Units in the Operating
Partnership and, beginning January 1, 2006 as described below, to the 50.0% interest in a consolidated affiliate, Highwoods-Markel Associates,
LLC ( Markel ), that are owned by various individuals and entities other than the Company. As of September 30, 2006, the minority interest in the
Operating Partnership consisted of 5.0 million Common Units. Minority interest in the net income/(loss) of the Operating Partnership is

computed by applying the weighted average percentage of Common Units not owned by the Company during the period (as a percent of the total
number of outstanding Common Units) to the Operating Partnership s net income/(loss) after deducting distributions on Preferred Units. The
result is the amount of minority interest expense or income recorded for the period. In addition, when a Common Unitholder redeems a Common
Unit for a share of Common Stock or cash, the minority interest is reduced and the Company s share in the Operating Partnership is increased. At
the end of each reporting period, the Company determines the amount that represents the minority unitholders share of the net assets (at book
value) of the Operating Partnership and compares this amount to the minority interest balance that resulted from transactions during the period
involving minority interest. The Company adjusts the minority interest liability to the computed share of net assets with an offsetting adjustment
to the Company s paid-in capital.

In addition, minority interest at September 30, 2006 in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $2.3 million related
to the consolidation of Markel as a result of the Company s adoption of EITF Issue No. 04-5, as described below in Impact of Newly Adopted
and Issued Financial Standards.

14
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. DEscripTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued

Minority interest in net income is reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Amount shown as minority interest in continuing operations $292) $ 63  $(1,272) $ 398
Amount related to loss/(income) from discontinued operations (30) (186) (149) (832)
Amount related to gain on sale of discontinued operations (243) (1,051) 407) (2,695)
Total minority interest in net income $ (565) $ (1,174) $(1,828) $(3,129)

Impact of Newly Adopted and Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (SFAS No. 154). The Statement replaces Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes (APB Opinion No. 20) and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statements and changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. APB Opinion

No. 20 previously required that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recognized by including in net income of the period of the
change the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. This Statement requires retrospective application to prior periods
financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative
effect of the change. The Statement is effective for any accounting changes and corrections of errors made on or after January 1, 2006.

In July 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) SOP 78-9-1, Interaction of AICPA Statement of Position 78-9 and EITF Issue No. 04-5. The

EITF states that a general partner is presumed to control a limited partnership and should consolidate the limited partnership unless the limited

partners possess substantive kick-out rights or the limited partners possess substantive participating rights. This FSP eliminates the concept of
important rights of SOP 78-9 and replaces it with the concepts of kick-out rights and substantive participating rights as defined in Issue 04-5.

This FSP is effective after June 29, 2005 for general partners of all new partnerships formed and for existing partnerships for which the

partnership agreements are modified. For general partners in all other partnerships, the guidance in this FSP is effective no later than

January 1, 2006. The Company consolidated one of its existing joint ventures, Markel, upon the adoption of this FSP in January 2006; the

Company treated this as a prospective change of accounting principle as permitted by EITF No. 04-5. This change resulted in the inclusion on

the Consolidated Balance Sheet at January 1, 2006 of approximately $44 million of real estate assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and other

assets, and approximately $39.3 million in mortgages and notes payable and other liabilities, with the remaining effects to investments in

unconsolidated affiliates and to minority interest.

The organizational documents of Markel require the entity to be liquidated through the sale of its assets upon reaching December 31, 2100. As
controlling partner, the Company has an obligation to cause this property-owning entity to distribute proceeds of liquidation to the minority
interest partner in these partially owned properties only if the net proceeds received by the entity from the sale of its assets warrant a distribution
as determined by the agreement. In accordance with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments
with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity ( SFAS No. 150 ), the Company estimates the value of minority interest distributions would
have been approximately $12 million had the entity been liquidated as of September 30, 2006. This estimated settlement value is based on
assumed third party consideration realizable by the entity upon a hypothetical disposition of the properties and is net of all other assets and
liabilities. The amount of any actual distributions to the minority interest holder in this entity is difficult to predict due to many factors, including
the inherent uncertainty of real estate sales. If the entity s underlying assets are worth less than the underlying liabilities on the date of such
liquidation, the Company would have no obligation to remit any consideration to the minority interest holder.

15
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. DEscripTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 ( FIN 48 ), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of SFAS
No. 109, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken in an income tax return. The interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the effect of FIN 48 on the Company s financial condition and results of
operations upon adoption on January 1, 2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 becomes effective for the Company on
January 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 157 may have on its financial condition and results of operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (  SEC ) released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 ( SAB No. 108 ), which
addresses how the effects of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying misstatements in current year financial
statements. SAB No. 108 requires companies to quantify misstatements using both the balance sheet and income statement approaches and to
evaluate whether either approach is material. If, in evaluating misstatements following an approach not previously used by the Company, the
effect of initial adoption is determined to be material, SAB No. 108 allows companies to record that effect as a cuamulative effect adjustment to
beginning retained earnings. The requirements of this guidance are effective for the Company for the annual financial statements as of
December 31, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating what impact, if any, SAB No. 108 may have on its financial statements.

Employee Benefit Plans and Stock-Based Compensation

The Company s officers generally receive annual grants of stock options and restricted stock on March 1 of each year under the Amended and
Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (the Stock Option Plan ). Stock options have also been granted to the Company s directors; currently, directors
do not receive annual stock option grants. Restricted stock grants are also made annually to directors and certain non-officer employees. As of
September 30, 2006, 9.0 million shares of Common Stock were authorized for issuance under the Stock Option Plan. Stock options issued prior

to 2005 vest ratably over four years and remain outstanding for 10 years. Stock options issued in 2005 and 2006 continue to vest ratably over a
four-year period, but remain outstanding for seven years. The value of all options as of the date of grant is calculated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model.

The Company elected to follow Accounting Principles Board ( APB ) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
interpretations in accounting for its stock options issued through December 31, 2002. During 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, which provided methods of transition to the fair value based method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation. This standard was effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after

December 15, 2002. The Company elected the prospective method as defined by SFAS No. 148 for options issued on or after January 1, 2003.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which revised SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in the financial
statements and forfeitures to be estimated at the grant date rather than as they occur. The Company based its estimated forfeiture rate on

historical forfeitures of all stock option grants. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 using the

modified-prospective method.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. DEscripTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLicies - Continued

Using the Black-Scholes options valuation model, the weighted average fair values of options granted during the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005 were $4.00 and $1.89, respectively, per option. The fair values of the options granted in 2006 and 2005 were
estimated at the grant dates using the following weighted average assumptions:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005
Risk free interest rate (1) 4.63% 4.19%
Common stock dividend yield (2) 5.20% 6.45%
Expected volatility (3) 18.90% 16.30%
Average expected option life (years) 4.75(4) 7.0

Options granted 243,610 652,325

(1) Represents interest rate on US treasury bonds having the same life as the estimated life of the Company s options.

(2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing the dividends paid for the previous one-year period and the Company s stock price on the date of
grant.

(3) Based on historical volatility of the Company s stock over a period relevant to the related stock option grant.

(4) The average expected option life for the 2006 grant is based on an analysis of historical company data and is based on the contractual term
for the 2005 grant.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income available to common stockholders and earnings per share for the three and nine months

ended September 30, 2005 if a fair value based method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested stock options granted prior to

January 1, 2003:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2005 2005
Net income available for common stockholders - as reported $ 11,900 $ 29,062
Add: Stock option expense included in reported net income 134(1) 350(1)
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined under fair value recognition
method for all awards (186)(1) 541)1)
Pro forma net income attributable to common stockholders $ 11,848 $ 28,871
Basic net income per common share - as reported $ 0.22 $ 0.54
Basic net income per common share - pro forma $ 0.22 $ 0.54
Diluted net income per common share - as reported $ 0.22 $ 0.54
Diluted net income per common share - pro forma $ 0.22 $ 0.54

(1)  Amounts include the effect of dividend equivalent rights.
Dividends on unvested shares of restricted stock are accounted for as compensation expense.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AND OTHER AFFILIATES

The Company has various joint ventures with unrelated investors and has retained minority equity interests ranging from 12.5% to 50.0% in
these joint ventures. The Company generally accounts for its unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting. As a result,
the assets and liabilities of these joint ventures for which the Company uses the equity method of accounting are not included on the Company s

consolidated balance sheet.

During the third quarter of 2006, three of the Company s joint ventures made distributions aggregating $17.0 million as a result of a refinancing
of debt related to various properties held by the joint ventures. The Company received 50.0% of such distribution. As a result of these
distributions, the Company s investment account in these joint ventures became negative. The new debt is non-recourse; however, the Company
and its partner have guaranteed other debt and have contractual obligations to support the joint ventures, which are included in the Guarantees
and Other Obligations table in Note 12. Therefore, in accordance with SOP 78-9  Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventures, the
Company recorded the distributions as a reduction of the investment account and included the resulting negative investment balances of $6.3

million in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2006.

The Company currently has three consolidated joint ventures. SF-HIW Harborview, LP is accounted for as a financing arrangement pursuant to
SFAS No. 66, as described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K; The
Vinings at University Center, LLC is consolidated pursuant to FIN 46(R) as described further below; and Markel is consolidated beginning
January 1, 2006 pursuant to EITF 04-5, as discussed above.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates as of September 30, 2006 and combined summarized income statements for the Company s
unconsolidated joint ventures for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

Joint Venture
Board of Trade Investment Company
Dallas County Partners I, LP
Dallas County Partners II, LP
Dallas County Partners III, LP
Fountain Three
RRHWoods, LLC
Kessinger/Hunter, LLC
4600 Madison Associates, LLC
Plaza Colonnade, LLC
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP

Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LP
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, LP
HIW-KC Orlando LLC

Concourse Center Associates, LLC
Weston Lakeside, LLC

Total

Location of Properties

Kansas City, MO

Des Moines, IA

Des Moines, TA

Des Moines, TA

Des Moines, TA

Des Moines, TA

Kansas City, MO

Kansas City, MO

Kansas City, MO

Atlanta, GA; Charlotte, NC;
Greensboro, NC; Raleigh, NC;
Orlando, FL; Baltimore, MD

Atlanta, GA; Greensboro, NC;
Orlando, FL

Atlanta, GA

Atlanta, GA

Orlando, FL.

Greensboro, NC

Raleigh, NC

Total Rentable

Square Feet (000)
166
641
272
7
785

800(1)

()

262
293

1,199

822
185

1,273
118
©)

6,823(4)

Ownership
Interest

49.0%
50.0%
50.0%
50.0%
50.0%
50.0%
26.5%
12.5%
50.0%

22.8%

42.9%
40.0%
40.0%
40.0%
50.0%
50.0%
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Includes a 75,000 square foot office building and a 31,000 square foot office building currently under development.

This joint venture provides property management, leasing and brokerage services and provides certain construction related services to
certain Wholly Owned Properties of the Company; therefore, no rentable square feet is provided.

This joint venture is constructing approximately 332 rental residential units on 22.4 acres of land.

Total does not include properties held by consolidated joint ventures totaling 618,000 square feet.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AND OTHER AFFILIATES - Continued

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2006 2005(1) 2006 2005(1)
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 35960 $ 35,101 $ 103,762 $ 104,147
Expenses:
Operating expenses 15,920 14,712 44,591 42,788
Depreciation and amortization 7,338 7,450 21,328 22,039
Interest expense and loan cost amortization 8,369 8,752 25,094 25,830
Loss on debt extinguishment 1,448 1,448
Total expenses 33,075 30,914 92,461 90,657
Net income $ 2,885 $ 4,187 $ 11,301 $ 13,490
The Company s share of:
Net income (2) $ 1,342 $ 2,060 $ 5,349 $ 6,964
Depreciation and amortization (real estate related) $ 2,790 $ 2,771  $ 8,143 §$ 8,039
Interest expense and loan cost amortization $ 3,507 $ 3,685 $ 10,509 $ 10,834
Loss on debt extinguishment $ 724 $ $ 724 $

(1) Amounts for 2005 include Markel, which has been consolidated beginning January 1, 2006, as described in Note 1.
(2) The Company s share of net income differs from its weighted average ownership percentage in the joint ventures net income due to the
Company s purchase accounting and other related adjustments.
On December 22, 2004, the Company and Easlan Investment Group, Inc. ( Easlan ) formed The Vinings at University Center, LLC. The
Company contributed 7.8 acres of land at an agreed upon value of $1.6 million to the joint venture in December 2004 in return for a 50% equity
interest and Easlan contributed $1.1 million, in the form of non-interest bearing promissory notes, for a 50% equity interest in the entity. At
September 30, 2006, the Company has consolidated this joint venture under the provisions of FIN 46(R) because Easlan has no at-risk equity
and the Company absorbs the majority of the joint venture s expected losses. Accordingly, the Company s balance sheet at September 30, 2006
includes $11.0 million of building and land and a $9.7 million construction note payable. On November 1, 2006, the joint venture sold the
buildings and land to a third party for gross proceeds of $14.3 million, paid off the construction note payable and made cash distributions to the
partners. The Company received a distribution of $2.9 million.

For additional information regarding the Company s investments in unconsolidated and other affiliates, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

For information regarding sale transactions that were accounted for as financing arrangements under paragraphs 25 through 29 of SFAS No. 66,
see Note 5 herein and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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4. Asser DIsPoSITIONS

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company s dispositions consisted of the following:

For the Quarters Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30,

2006 2006 2006
Operating properties (square feet in thousands) 1,999 292
Land held for development (acres) 60.6 6.6 11.5
Gross sale proceeds on operating properties $153,900 $ $ 22,787
Gross sale proceeds on development land $ 5490 $ 1,600 $ 4,200
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

4. Asser Dispositions - Continued

In January 2006, the Company sold office and industrial properties in Atlanta, Georgia, Columbia, South Carolina and Tampa, Florida in a
single transaction for gross proceeds of approximately $141 million. This transaction was classified as held for sale and an impairment loss of
$7.7 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005. The properties subject to this sale were classified as discontinued operations in the
fourth quarter of 2005.

In March 2006, the Company sold an office property in Raleigh, North Carolina for gross proceeds of approximately $12.9 million. A gain of
approximately $1.4 million was recorded in the first quarter of 2006. This property was classified as discontinued operations in the first quarter
of 2006.

In August 2006, the Company sold five office properties in Raleigh, North Carolina for gross proceeds of approximately $22.8 million. A gain
of approximately $2.8 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2006. This property was classified as discontinued operations in the third
quarter of 2006.

In October 2006, the Company sold 94.6 acres of land in Atlanta, Georgia for gross proceeds of approximately $22.5 million. A gain of
approximately $7.4 million will be recorded in the fourth quarter of 2006. The Company also sold a retail property aggregating 105,325 rentable
square feet in Kansas City, Missouri for gross proceeds of approximately $10.5 million. A gain of approximately $1.5 million will be recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2006.

Gains, losses and impairments on disposition of properties, net, from dispositions not classified as discontinued operations, consisted of the
following:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Gains on disposition of land $ 2,103 $ 4,799 $5,143 $ 5,990
Impairments on land (59) (74) (269)
Gains on disposition of depreciable properties 874 4,953 3,226 5,758
Total $ 2977 $ 9,693 $8295 $11,479

The above gains on land and depreciable properties include deferred gain recognition from prior sales and adjustments to prior sale transactions.

Net gains on sale and impairments of discontinued operations, net of minority interest, consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Gains on disposition of depreciable properties $2,838 $11,193 $5,045 $28,257
Impairments on disposition of depreciable properties (697)
Allocable minority interest (243) (1,051) 407) (2,695)
Total $2,595 $10,142 $4,638 $24,.865
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See Note 10 for information on discontinued operations and impairment of long-lived assets.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

5. MoRTGAGES, NOTES PAYABLE AND FINANCING OBLIGATIONS

The Company s consolidated mortgages and notes payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

September 30, December 31,

2006 2005
Secured mortgage loans $ 704,605(1) $ 721,116
Unsecured loans 756,500 750,500
Total $ 1,461,105 $ 1,471,616

(1) Amount includes $38.5 million from the consolidation of Markel, as described in Note 1.
As of September 30, 2006, the Company s outstanding mortgages and notes payable were secured by real estate assets with an aggregate
undepreciated book value of approximately $1.2 billion.

Refinancings and Preferred Stock Redemptions in 2005 and 2006

During 2005 and through the third quarter of 2006, the Company paid off $196.2 million of outstanding loans, excluding any normal debt
amortization and the refinancings of the credit facility and bank term loans, which included $176.2 million of secured debt with a weighted
average interest rate of 6.9% and $20 million of unsecured floating rate debt with an interest rate of 4.9%. Included in the $176.2 million was
$89.8 million of floating rate secured debt. The Company incurred a $0.5 million loss on debt extinguishments in 2005 in connection with these
loan pay-downs. Approximately $350 million of real estate assets (based on undepreciated cost basis) became unencumbered after paying off the
secured debt. The Company also used some of the proceeds from its disposition activity to redeem, in August 2005 and February 2006, all of the
Company s outstanding Series D Preferred Shares and 3,200,000 of its outstanding Series B Preferred Shares, aggregating $180.0 million plus
accrued dividends. These reductions in outstanding debt and Preferred Stock balances were funded primarily from proceeds from property
dispositions that closed in 2005 and 2006. In connection with the redemption of Preferred Stock, the excess of the redemption cost over the net
carrying amount of the redeemed shares was recorded as a reduction to net income available for common stockholders. These reductions
amounted to $4.3 million and $1.8 million for the third quarter of 2005 and first quarter of 2006, respectively.

On May 1, 2006, the Company obtained a new $350 million, three-year unsecured revolving credit facility from Bank of America, N.A. The
Company used $273 million of proceeds from the new revolving credit facility, together with available cash, to pay off the remaining
outstanding balance of $178 million under its previous revolving credit facility and a $100 million bank term loan, both of which were
terminated. Loss on debt extinguishments of approximately $0.5 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2006.

On August 8, 2006, the Company s revolving credit facility was amended and restated as part of a syndication with a group of 15 banks. The
revolving credit facility was also upsized from $350 million to $450 million. The Company s revolving credit facility is initially scheduled to
mature on May 1, 2009. Assuming no default exists, the Company has an option to extend the maturity date by one additional year and, at any
time prior to May 1, 2008, may request increases in the borrowing availability under the credit facility by up to an additional $50 million. The
interest rate is LIBOR plus 80 basis points and the annual base facility fee is 20 basis points. The revolving credit facility has up to $167.7
million of additional availability as of October 19, 2006.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

5. MorTGAGES, NoTES PAYABLE AND FINANCING OBLIGATIONS - Continued

As of the date of this filing, the Operating Partnership has not yet satisfied the requirement under the indenture governing its outstanding notes to
file timely SEC reports, but expects to do so as soon as practicable. Under the indenture, the notes may be accelerated if the trustee or 25% of the
holders provide written notice of a default and such default remains uncured after 60 days. If the Operating Partnership failed to file its
delinquent SEC reports prior to expiration of the 60-day cure period after receipt of any such default notice, the lender under the Company s
revolving credit facility would also have the ability to accelerate amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility. To date, neither the
trustee nor any holder has sent the Company any such default notice. The Operating Partnership is in compliance with all other covenants under
the indenture and is current on all payments required thereunder.

Financing Obligations

The Company s financing obligations consisted of the following at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
SF-HIW Harborview, LP financing obligation $ 15,870 $ 14,983
Tax increment financing obligation (1) 19,171 19,171
Capitalized ground lease obligation (2) 1,057
Total $ 36,098 $ 34,154
(1) In connection with tax increment financing for construction of a public garage related to an office building constructed by the Company in

@

2000, the Company is obligated to pay fixed special assessments over a 20-year period. The net present value of these assessments,
discounted at 6.9% at the inception of the obligation, is shown as a financing obligation in the balance sheet. The Company also receives
special tax revenues and property tax rebates, which are intended, but not guaranteed, to provide funds to pay the special assessments.
Represents a capitalized lease obligation to the lessor of land on which the Company is constructing a new building. The Company is
obligated to make fixed payments to the lessor through October 2022 and the lease provides for fixed price purchase options in the ninth
and tenth years of the lease. The Company intends to exercise the purchase option in order to prevent an economic penalty related to
conveying the building to the lessor at the expiration of the lease. The net present value of the fixed rental payments and purchase option
through the ninth year was calculated using a discount rate of 7.1%. The assets and liabilities under the capital lease are recorded at the
lower of the present value of minimum lease payments or the fair value. The fair value of the land is included in financing obligations on
the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. The liability accretes each month for the difference between the interest rate on the financing
obligation and the fixed payments. The accretion will continue until the liability equals the purchase option of the land in the ninth year of
the lease.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

6. SToCcK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock Options

The following table summarizes information about stock option activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2006:

Options Outstanding
Number of Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price
Balances at December 31, 2005 5,153,648 $ 24.23
Options granted 243,610 32.40
Options forfeited (18,262) 27.16
Options cancelled (32,057) 25.73
Options exercised (1,736,780) 23.83
Balances at September 30, 2006 3,610,159 $ 24.95

Cash received or receivable at September 30, 2006 from options exercised was $29.1 million and $2.7 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005 was $22.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options outstanding at September 30, 2006 and 2005 was
$44.3 million and $27.7 million, respectively.

The Company generally does not permit the net cash settlement of exercised stock options, but does permit net share settlement for certain
qualified exercises.

The portion of stock option expense recorded at September 30, 2006 related to unvested awards granted prior to January 1, 2003 was immaterial.

The following tables set forth additional information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2006.

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average Number Average Average
Outstanding Remaining Exercise Exercisable Remaining Exercise
Exercise Price of Stock Options (in 000s) Life (years) Price (in 000s) Life (years) Price

$10.00 to $15.00 57 34 $ 11.63 57 34 § 11.63
$15.01 to $20.00 35 34 $ 18.69 35 34 $ 18.69
$20.01 to $25.00 1,507 42 $ 2241 1,390 42 $ 2252
$25.01 to $30.00 1,725 59 $ 2647 1,001 6.0 $ 26.62
$30.01 to $35.00 285 55 $ 3260 52 56 $ 33.60

$35.01 to $40.00 1 69 $ 37.60 $

Stock Options Exercisable
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Number Weighted

of Average
Shares Exercise
Price

3,738,710 $ 26.06
2,534,621 $ 24.05

18

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in 000s)
$ 22,081
$ 33,345
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

6. Stock-Basep CompensaTioN - Continued
Restricted Stock Grants

The Company generally makes annual grants of time-based restricted stock under its Stock Option Plan to its directors, officers and other
employees. Restricted stock issued prior to 2005 generally vests 50.0% three years from the date of grant and the remaining 50.0% five years
from date of grant. Shares of time-based restricted stock that were issued in 2005 will vest one-third on the third anniversary, one-third on the
fourth anniversary and one-third on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant. Shares of time-based restricted stock that were issued in 2006 will
vest 25% on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary dates, respectively. Shares of time-based restricted stock issued to directors generally
vest 25% at the end of the first, second, third and fourth anniversary dates, respectively. The value of grants of time-based restricted stock is
based on the market value of Common Stock as of the date of grant.

During 2005 and 2006, the Company also issued shares of restricted stock to officers under its Stock Option Plan that will vest if the Company s
total shareholder return exceeds the average total returns of a selected group of peer companies over a three-year period. If the Company s total
shareholder return does not exceed such average total returns, none of the total return-based restricted stock will vest. The 2006 grants also
contain a provision allowing for partial vesting if the annual return in any given year exceeds 9%. The fair values of each such share of total
return-based restricted stock were determined by an outside consultant to be approximately 76% and 87% of the market value of a share of
Common Stock as of the grant dates for the 2005 and 2006 grants, respectively. The total grant date fair value of these shares of total-return
based restricted stock is being amortized to expense on a straight-line method over the three-year period.

During 2005 and 2006, the Company also issued shares of performance-based restricted stock to officers under its Stock Option Plan that will
vest pursuant to company-wide performance-based criteria. The performance-based criteria are based on whether or not the Company meets or
exceeds four operating and financial goals established under its Strategic Management Plan by the end of 2007 and 2008, respectively. To the
extent actual performance equals or exceeds threshold performance goals, the portion of shares of performance-based restricted stock that vest
can range from 50% to 100%. If actual performance does not meet such threshold goals, none of the performance-based restricted stock will
vest. The fair value of performance-based restricted share grants is based on the market value of Common Stock as of the date of grant and the
estimated performance to be achieved at the end of the three-year period. Such fair value is being amortized to expense during the period from
grant date to December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively, adjusting for the expected level of vesting that will occur at those dates.

Up to 100% of additional total return-based restricted stock and up to 50% of additional performance-based restricted stock may be issued at the
end of the three-year periods if actual performance exceeds certain levels of performance. Such additional shares, if any, would be fully vested
when issued. The Company will also accrue and record expense for additional performance-based shares during the three-year period to the
extent issuance of the additional shares is expected based on current and projected actual performance. In accordance with GAAP, no expense is
recorded for additional shares of total return-based restricted stock that may be issued at the end of the three-year period since that possibility is
already reflected in the grant date fair value.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

6. Stock-Basep CompensaTioN - Continued

The following table summarizes activity in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 for all time-based restricted stock grants:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2006
Weighted
Average
Number
Issuance
of
Shares Price
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 268,409(1) $ 2479
Number of restricted shares awarded and issued 72,906 32.50
Restricted shares vested (2) (42,927) 24.15
Restricted shares forfeited (15,945) 25.50
Restricted shares surrendered for payment of withholding taxes upon vesting (23,275) 23.77
Restricted shares outstanding at September 30, 2006 259,168 $ 27.11

(1)  Amount includes 20,396 shares granted during the blackout period in 2005. These shares were issued in 2006 and are included in the

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders Equity at September 30, 2006.

(2) The total fair value of restricted shares that vested during each of the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was $1.9 million.
The following table summarizes activity in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 for all performance-based and total return-based

restricted stock grants:

Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2005

Number of restricted shares awarded and issued

Restricted shares vested

Restricted shares forfeited

Restricted shares surrendered for payment of withholding taxes upon vesting

Restricted shares outstanding at September 30, 2006

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2006
Weighted

Average

Number
of Issuance
Shares Price

62,576 $ 26.82
52,938 30.62
(4,546) 28.19

110,968 $ 28.58

During the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized approximately $2.9 million and $2.0 million,

respectively, of stock-based compensation expense. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, there was $7.0 million and $5.0

million, respectively,

of total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs, which will be recognized over a weighted average remaining contractual term of 2.5
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years and 2.9 years, respectively.
Retirement Plan

Effective for 2006, the Company adopted a retirement plan applicable to all employees, including executive officers, who, at the time of
retirement, have at least 30 years of continuous qualified service or are at least 55 years old and have at least 10 years of continuous qualified
service. Subject to advance retirement notice and execution of a non-compete agreement with the Company, eligible retirees would be entitled to
receive a pro rata amount of the annual bonus earned during the year of retirement. Stock options and time-based restricted stock granted to such
eligible retiree during his or her employment would be non-forfeitable and become exercisable according to the terms of their original grants.
Eligible retirees would also be entitled to receive a pro rata amount of any performance-based and total return-based restricted stock originally
granted to such eligible retiree during his or her employment that subsequently vests after the retirement date according to the terms of their
original grants. The benefits of this retirement plan apply only to restricted stock and stock option grants beginning in 2006 and will be phased in
25% on March 1, 2006 and 25% on each anniversary thereof. For employees eligible for these benefits as of the date of grant after

March 1, 2006, 25% of their grants were fully expensed at the grant date, which increased compensation expense by approximately $0.2 million
in the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Grants made prior to 2006 are unaffected.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

6. Stock-Basep CompENSATION - Continued
Deferred Compensation

The Company has a deferred compensation plan pursuant to which each executive officer and director can elect to defer a portion of base salary
and/or annual bonus (or director fees) for investment in various unrelated mutual funds. Prior to January 1, 2006, executive officers and directors
also could elect to defer cash compensation for investment in units of phantom stock. At the end of each calendar quarter, any executive officer
and director who deferred compensation into phantom stock was credited with units of phantom stock at a 15.0% discount. Dividends on the
phantom units are assumed to be issued in additional units of phantom stock at a 15.0% discount. If an officer that deferred compensation under
this plan leaves the Company s employ voluntarily or for cause within two years after the end of the year in which such officer deferred
compensation for units of phantom stock, at a minimum, the 15.0% discount and any deemed dividends are forfeited. Over the two-year vesting
period, the Company records additional compensation expense equal to the 15.0% discount, the accrued dividends and any changes in the
market value of Common Stock from the date of the deferral, which aggregated $(0.05) million and $0.07 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2003, respectively, and $1.2 million and $0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Cash payments from the plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were $0.5 million and $0.02 million,
respectively.

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As more fully described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company
purchased land in 2005 from GAPI, Inc., an entity owned by a current director, and also sold certain buildings in 2005 to a director who
subsequently retired from the Board of Directors on December 31, 2005.

8. DErIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss ( AOCL ) at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was $1.7 million and $2.2 million,
respectively, and consisted of deferred gains and losses from past cash flow hedging instruments which are being recognized as interest expense
over the terms of the related debt (see Note 9). The Company expects that the portion of the cumulative loss recorded in AOCL at

September 30, 2006 associated with these derivative instruments, which will be recognized as interest expense within the next 12 months, will
be approximately $0.7 million.

The land purchase agreement with GAPI, Inc. described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company s 2005 Annual
Report on Form 10-K included an embedded derivative feature due to the price for the land parcels being determined by the fair value of
Common Units, which was accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133.

9. OtHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net income plus the changes in certain amounts deferred in accumulated other comprehensive
income/(loss) related to hedging activities not reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The components of other comprehensive
income are as follows:

Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Net income $ 8,909 $ 22,871 $29,328 $55,459
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized derivative gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges (101)
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Amortization of hedging gains and losses included in other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

21

177 176 531 527
177 176 531 426

$ 9,086 $ 23,047 $29,859 $55885
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

10. DiscoNTINUED OPERATIONS AND THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

As part of its business strategy, the Company will from time to time selectively dispose of non-core properties and use the net proceeds for
investments or other purposes. The table below sets forth the net operating results and net carrying value of those assets classified as
discontinued operations. The assets classified as discontinued operations comprise 6.9 million square feet of office and industrial properties and
46 apartment units sold during 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 0.2 million square feet of property and 156 apartment
units held for sale at September 30, 2006. These long-lived assets relate to disposal activities that were initiated subsequent to the effective date
of SFAS No. 144, or that met certain stipulations prescribed by SFAS No. 144. The operations of these assets have been reclassified from the
ongoing operations of the Company to discontinued operations, and the Company does not or will not have any significant continuing
involvement in the operations after the disposal transactions:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005
Rental and other revenues $1558 $ 8,717 $5227 $40,375
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expenses 647 3,962 1,950 17,078
Depreciation and amortization 221 2,276 1,090 12,986
General and administrative 75 298 75 849
Total operating expenses 943 6,536 3,115 30,913
Interest expense 277 251 482 1,072
Other income 3 56 18 135
Income before minority interest in the Operating Partnership and net gains on sale and
impairment of discontinuedoperations 341 1,986 1,648 8,525
Minority interest in discontinued operations (30) (186) (149) (832)
Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest in the Operating
Partnership 311 1,800 1,499 7,693
Net gains on sale and impairment of discontinued operations 2,838 11,193 5,045 27,560
Minority interest in discontinued operations (243) (1,051) 407) (2,695)
Net gains on sale and impairment of discontinuedoperations, net of minority interest in the
Operating Partnership 2,595 10,142 4,638 24,865
Total discontinued operations $2906 $11,942 $6,137 $32,558

The net book value of property classified as discontinued operations that was sold during 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006
and was held for sale at September 30, 2006 aggregated $488.4 million.

Certain other assets were sold during 2005 that did not meet the criteria of SFAS No. 144 to be classified as discontinued operations due to the
magnitude of the Company s ongoing management and/or leasing services on behalf of the new owners.
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SFAS No. 144 also requires that a long-lived asset classified as held for sale be measured at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less cost
to sell. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, there were no properties held for sale which had a carrying value that was greater
than fair value less cost to sell; therefore, no impairment loss was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the Company recorded impairment losses of $0.7 million related
to three properties sold and $3.2 million related to two land parcels sold.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

10. DiscoNTINUED OPERATIONS AND THE IMPAIRMENT OF LoNG-Livep Assets - Continued

SFAS No. 144 also requires that if indicators of impairment exist, the carrying value of a long-lived asset classified as held for use be compared
to the sum of its estimated undiscounted future cash flows. If the carrying value is greater than the sum of its undiscounted future cash flows, an
impairment loss should be recognized for the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its estimated fair value. In each of the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, a property had indicators of impairment where the carrying value exceeded the sum of estimated
undiscounted future cash flows. Therefore, impairment losses of $2.6 million and $4.4 million were recorded in the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The following table includes the major classes of assets and liabilities of the properties classified as held for sale as of September 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005:

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
Land $ 4,520 $ 28,301
Land held for development 22,706 27,526
Buildings and tenant improvements 22,875 154,411
Development in process 9,266
Accumulated depreciation (3,572) (36,244)
Net real estate assets 46,529 183,260
Deferred leasing costs, net 99 2,188
Accrued straight line rents receivable 249 2,294
Prepaid expenses and other 75 28
Total assets $ 46,952 $ 187,770
Tenant security deposits, deferred rents and accrued costs (1) $ 1,084 $ 1,082
Mortgages payable (2) $ 14,656 $ 14,794
(1) Included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
(2) Included in mortgages and notes payable.
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005

Basic income/(loss) per share:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 6,003 $10,929 $ 23,191 $ 22,901
Preferred Stock dividends 4,113) (6,699) (12,950) (22,125)
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Excess of Preferred Stock redemption costs over carrying value

Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders 1,890
Income from discontinued operations 2,906
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 4,796
Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per share  weighted average shares 54,470
Basic earnings per share:

Income/(loss) from continuing operations $ 0.04
Income from discontinued operations 0.05
Net income $ 0.09

23

(4,272) (1,803) (4,272)

(42) 8,438 (3,496)
11,942 6,137 32,558

$11,900 $ 14,575 $ 29,062

53,768 54,069 53,725

$ $ 016 §$ (0.07)

0.22 0.11 0.61

$ 022 $ 027 $ 054
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

11. EArNINGS PER SHARE - Continued

Diluted income/(loss) per share:

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations

Preferred Stock dividends

Excess of Preferred Stock redemption costs over carrying value
Minority interest in the Operating Partnership

Income/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders

Income from discontinued operations
Minority interest in discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations
Net income attributable to common stockholders

Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per share
Add:

Employee stock options and warrants
Common Units

Unvested restricted stock

weighted average shares

Denominator for diluted earnings per share
assumed conversions

adjusted weighted average shares and

Diluted earnings per share (1):
Income/(loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

Net income

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
$ 6,003 $ 10,929 $ 23,191 $ 22,901
(4,113) (6,699) (12,950) (22,125)
4,272) (1,803) 4,272)
175 826
2,065 42) 9,264 (3,496)
2,906 11,942 6,137 32,558
273 556
3,179 11,942 6,693 32,558
$ 5,244 $ 11,900 $ 15,957 $ 29,062
54,470 53,768 54,069 53,725
1,592 (€)) 1,335 (€))
5,171 1) 5,280 (€8]
224 (€)) 102 (€))
61,457 53,768 60,786 53,725
$ 0.04 $ $ 0.15 $ (0.07)
0.05 0.22 0.11 0.61
$ 0.09 $ 022 $ 0.26 $ 0.54

(1) Pursuant to SFAS No. 128, income/(loss) from continuing operations, after preferred dividends and Preferred Stock redemption charge, is
the controlling number in determining whether potential common shares are dilutive or antidilutive. Because such potential common
shares would be antidilutive to loss from continuing operations allocable to common stockholders, diluted earnings per share is the same as
basic earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005. Potential common shares include stock options,
warrants, shares issuable upon conversions of Common Units and unvested restricted shares, and would have amounted to approximately
6.7 million shares and 6.6 million shares in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively. In addition, potential
common shares that would have been antidilutive due to the option or warrant exercise price being less than the average stock price for the
periods reported were approximately 0.9 million shares for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 0.08 million shares and
1.7 million shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The amount of shares reported for the three
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months ended September 30, 2006 that would have been anti-dilutive due to the option or warrant exercise price being less than the
average stock price for the period was immaterial.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. CommiTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalent investments and its restricted cash at financial institutions. The combined account balances
at each institution typically exceed FDIC insurance coverage and, as a result, there is a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit
in excess of FDIC insurance coverage.

Land Leases

Certain properties in the Company s wholly owned portfolio are subject to land leases expiring through 2082. Rental payments on these leases
are adjusted annually based on either the consumer price index (CPI) or on a pre-determined schedule. Land leases subject to increases under a
pre-determined schedule are accounted for under the straight-line method.

For four properties, the Company has the option to purchase the leased land during the lease term, three options at the greater of 85.0% of
appraised value or approximately $30,000 per acre, and one option at an initial stated purchase price of $1.0 million, which increases 2% per
year beginning in year five through the ninety-ninth year of the lease.

As of September 30, 2006, the Company s payment obligations for future minimum payments on operating leases (which include scheduled fixed
increases, but exclude increases based on CPI) were as follows:

Remainder of 2006 $ 271
2007 1,048
2008 1,064
2009 1,105
2010 1,123
Thereafter 46,256

$ 50,867

Capital Expenditures

The Company incurs capital expenditures to lease space to its customers, maintain the quality of its existing properties and build new properties.
Capital expenditures include tenant improvements, building improvements, new building completion costs and land infrastructure costs. Tenant
improvements are the costs required to customize space for the specific needs of first-generation and second-generation customers. Building
improvements are recurring capital costs not related to a specific customer to maintain existing buildings. New building completion costs are
expenses for the construction of new buildings. Land infrastructure costs are expenses to prepare development land for future development
activity that is not specifically related to a single building. Excluding recurring capital expenditures for leasing costs and tenant improvements
and for normal building improvements, the Company s expected future capital expenditures for started and/or committed new development
projects as of October 19, 2006 are approximately $280 million, which includes several projects started or committed after December 31, 2005.
A significant portion of these future expenditures are currently subject to binding contractual arrangements.

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company s in-service properties have been subjected to Phase I environmental assessments (and, in certain instances,
Phase II environmental assessments). Such assessments and/or updates have not revealed, nor is management aware of, any environmental
liability that management believes would have a material adverse effect on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. CommitMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

Joint Ventures

Most of the Company s joint venture agreements with unaffiliated parties have buy/sell options that may be exercised to acquire the other
partner s interest by either the Company or its joint venture partner if certain conditions are met as set forth in the respective joint venture
agreement.

Guarantees and Other Obligations

The following is a tabular presentation and related discussion of various guarantees and other obligations as of September 30, 2006:

Amount
Recorded/ Date Guarantee
Entity or Transaction Type of Guarantee or Other Obligation Deferred Expires
Des Moines Joint Ventures (1),(6) Debt $ Various through
11/2015
RRHWoods, LLC (2),(7) Indirect Debt (4) $ 704 8/2006
Plaza Colonnade (2),(8) Indirect Debt (4) $ 51 12/2009
SF-HIW Harborview, LP (3),(5) Rent and tenant improvement (4) $ 9/2007
Eastshore (Capital One) (3),(9) Rent (4) $ 5,169 11/2007
Industrial (3),(10) Rent (4) $ 105 12/2006
Industrial Environmental (3),(10) Rent and environmental costs (4) $ 125 Until
Remediated
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP (2),(11) Rent (4) $ 504 6/2008
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partners (2),(12) Indirect Debt (4) $ 104 6/2014
RRHWoods, LLC (2),(14) Indirect Debt (4) $ 63 11/2009
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC (3),(13) Rent (4) $ 443 4/2011
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC (3),(13) Leasing Costs $ 356 12/2024
(1) Represents guarantees entered into prior to the January 1, 2003 effective date of FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others ( FIN 45 ) for initial recognition and
measurement.
(2) Represents guarantees that fall under the initial recognition and measurement requirements of FIN 45.
(3) Represents guarantees that are excluded from the fair value accounting and disclosure provisions of FIN 45 because the existence of such
guarantees prevents sale treatment and/or the recognition of profit from the sale transaction.
(4) The maximum potential amount of future payments disclosed for these guarantees assumes the Company pays the maximum possible
liability under the guaranty with no offsets or reductions. If the space is leased, it assumes the existing tenant defaults at
September 30, 2006 and the space remains unleased through the remainder of the guaranty term. If the space is vacant, it assumes the
space remains vacant through the expiration of the guaranty. Since it is assumed that no new tenant will occupy the space, lease
commissions, if applicable, are excluded.
(5) As more fully described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, in 2002 the

Company granted its partner in SF-HIW Harborview, LP a put option and entered into a master lease arrangement for five years covering
vacant space in the building owned by the partnership. The Company also agreed to pay certain tenant improvement costs. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make related to the rent guarantees and tenant improvements was
$0.4 million as of September 30, 2006.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. CommitMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

(6

@)

®)

The Company has guaranteed certain loans in connection with the Des Moines joint ventures. The maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could have been required to make under the guarantees was $14.0 million at September 30, 2006. Of this amount,
$8.6 million arose from housing revenue bonds that require credit enhancements in addition to the real estate mortgages. The bonds bear a
floating interest rate, which at September 30, 2006 averaged approximately 3.63%, and mature in 2015. A guarantee of $5.4 million will
expire upon an industrial building becoming 95.0% leased or when the related loan matures. As of September 30, 2006, this building was
94.9% leased. If the joint ventures are unable to repay the outstanding balances under the loans that remain outstanding, the Company will
be required, under the terms of the agreements, to repay the outstanding balances. Recourse provisions exist to enable the Company to
recover some or all of such payments from the joint ventures assets and/or the other partners. The joint ventures currently generate
sufficient cash flow to cover the debt service required by the loans. On July 31, 2006, $6.0 million in loans related to four office buildings
that had been previously guaranteed by the Company were refinanced with no guarantee.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint venture, the Company guaranteed $3.1 million of debt. The term of the letter of credit and
corresponding master lease is four years. The agreement requires the Company to pay under a contingent master lease if the cash flows
from the building securing the letter of credit do not cover at least 50% of the minimum debt service. The letter of credit along with the
building secure the industrial revenue bonds used to finance the property. These bonds mature in 2015. Recourse provisions exist such that
the Company could recover some or all of the payments made under the letter of credit guarantee from the joint venture s assets. The
Company recorded a $0.7 million deferred charge included in other assets and liabilities on its Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect to
this guarantee. The Company s maximum potential exposure under this guarantee is $3.1 million.

The Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint venture has a $50 million non-recourse mortgage that bears a fixed interest rate of 5.7%, requires monthly
principal and interest payments and matures on January 31, 2017. The Company and its joint venture partner have signed a contingent
master lease limited to 30,772 square feet for five years. The Company s maximum exposure under this master lease was $1.4 million at
September 30, 2006. However, the current occupancy level of the building is sufficient to cover all debt service requirements.

On March 30, 2004, the Industrial Development Authority of the City of Kansas City, Missouri issued $18.5 million in non-recourse bonds to
finance public improvements made by the joint venture for the benefit of the Kansas City Missouri Public Library. Since the joint venture leases
the land for the office building from the library, the joint venture was obligated to build certain public improvements. The net bond proceeds
were $18.1 million and will be used for project and debt service costs. The joint venture has recorded this obligation on its balance sheet. Cash
proceeds from tax increment financing revenue generated by the building and its tenants are expected to be sufficient in the future to pay the
required debt service on the bonds.

®

As more fully described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, in connection with
the sale of three office buildings to a third party in 2002 (the Eastshore transaction), the Company agreed to guarantee rent shortfalls and
re-tenanting costs for a five-year period of time from the date of sale (through November 2007). The Company s maximum exposure to loss
under these agreements as of September 30, 2006 was $5.2 million. These three buildings are currently leased to a single tenant, Capital
One Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Capital One Financial Services, Inc., under leases that expire from May 2006 to March 2010. This
transaction had been accounted for as a financing transaction and was recorded as a completed sale transaction in the third quarter of 2005
when the maximum exposure to loss under these guarantees became less than the related deferred gain; gain is being recognized beginning
in the third quarter of 2005 as the maximum exposure under the guarantees is reduced.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. CommitMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

(10) In December 2003, the Company sold 1.9 million square feet of industrial property for $58.4 million in cash, a $5.0 million note receivable
that bears interest at 12.0% and a $1.7 million note receivable that bears interest at 8.0%. In addition, the Company agreed to guarantee,
over various contingency periods through December 2006, any rent shortfalls on 16.3% of the rentable square feet of the industrial
property, which is occupied by two tenants. The total gain as a result of the transaction was $6.0 million. Because the terms of the notes
required only interest payments to be made by the buyer until 2005, in accordance with SFAS No. 66, the entire $6.0 million gain was
deferred and offset against the note receivable on the balance sheet and the cost recovery method was being used for this transaction. On
June 30, 2005, the Company agreed to modify the note receivable to reduce the amount due by $0.3 million. The modified note balance
and all accrued interest aggregating $6.2 million, was paid in full on July 1, 2005. Because the maximum exposure to loss from the rent
guarantee at July 1, 2005 was $0.8 million, that amount of gain was deferred and $4.3 million of the deferred gain was recognized at that
date. As of September 30, 2006, $0.1 million remains deferred, which represents the Company s contingent liability with respect to the
guarantee. Additionally, as part of the sale, the Company agreed to indemnify and hold the buyer harmless with respect to environmental
concerns on the property of up to $0.1 million. As a result, $0.1 million of the gain was deferred at the time of sale and will remain
deferred until the environmental concerns are remediated.

(11) In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint venture, a single tenant currently leases an entire building under a lease scheduled to
expire on June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases space in other buildings owned by the Company. In conjunction with an overall
restructuring of the tenant s leases with the Company and with this joint venture, the Company agreed to certain changes to the lease with
the joint venture in September 2003. The modifications included allowing the tenant to vacate the premises on January 1, 2006, reducing
the rent obligation by 50% and converting the net leasetoa full service lease with the tenant liable for 50% of these costs at that time. In
turn, the Company agreed to compensate the joint venture for any economic losses incurred as a result of these lease modifications. As of
September 30, 2006, the Company has recorded approximately $0.5 million in other liabilities and $0.5 million as a deferred charge in
other assets on its Consolidated Balance Sheet to account for the lease guarantee. However, should new tenants occupy the vacated space
during the two and a half year guarantee period, the Company s liability under the guarantee would diminish. The Company s maximum
potential amount of future payments with regard to this guarantee as of September 30, 2006 is $0.9 million. No recourse provisions exist to
enable the Company to recover any amounts paid to the joint venture under this lease guarantee arrangement.

(12) RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partners each developed a new office building in Des Moines, lowa. On June 25, 2004, the joint
ventures financed both buildings with a $7.4 million ten-year loan from a lender. As an inducement to make the loan at a 6.3% long-term
rate, the Company and its partner agreed to master lease the vacant space and each guaranteed $0.8 million of the debt with limited
recourse. As leasing improves, the guarantee obligations under the loan agreement diminish. As of September 30, 2006, no master lease
payments were necessary. The Company currently has recorded $0.1 million in other liabilities and $0.1 million as a deferred charge
included in other assets on its Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect to this guarantee. The maximum potential amount of
future payments that the Company could be required to make based on the current leases in place is approximately $3.1 million as of
September 30, 2006. The likelihood of the Company paying on its $0.8 million guarantee is remote since the joint venture currently
satisfies the minimum debt coverage ratio and should the Company have to pay its portion of the guarantee, it would be entitled to recover
the $0.8 million from other joint venture assets.

(13) In connection with the formation of HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, the Company agreed to guarantee rent to the joint venture for 3,248 rentable
square feet commencing in August 2004 and expiring in April 2011. The Company s maximum potential amount of future payments with
regard to the guarantee is $0.4 million as of September 30, 2006. Additionally, the Company agreed to guarantee the initial leasing costs,
originally estimated at $4.1 million, for approximately 11% of the total square feet of the property owned by the joint venture. The
Company has paid approximately $0.3 million in the first nine months of 2006 and $0.5 million in the first nine months of 2005 under this
guarantee, and approximately $0.4 million is estimated to remain under the guarantee at September 30, 2006.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

12. CommitMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Continued

(14) In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint venture, the Company and its partner each guaranteed $2.9 million to a bank. This
guarantee expires in November 2009 and can be renewed, at the joint venture s option, through November 2011. The bank provides a letter
of credit securing industrial revenue bonds, which mature in November 2015. The joint venture s industrial building secures the bonds. The
Company would be required to perform under the guarantee should the joint venture be unable to repay the bonds. The Company has
recourse provisions to recover from the joint venture s assets. The property collateralizing the bonds generates sufficient cash flow to cover
the debt service required by the bond financing. In addition to the direct guarantee, the Company is committed to a master lease for 50% of
the debt service should the cash flow from the property not be able to pay the debt service of the bonds. As a result of this master lease, the
Company has recorded approximately $60,000 in other liabilities and as a deferred charge in other assets on its Consolidated Balance
Sheet at September 30, 2006.
Currently, RRHWoods, LLC is developing a new office building. In October 2006, the joint venture entered into a commitment to finance the
development with a $4.1 million ten-year loan from a lender. As part of the agreement, the Company and its partner agreed to each guarantee
$0.7 million until the building becomes 93.0% leased or when the related loan matures. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will be
required to pay on its guarantee should the joint venture be unable to repay the outstanding loan balance. However, the joint venture currently
generates sufficient cash flows to cover the debt service required by the loan. Although the Company is still evaluating the impact of the
guarantee, the Company does not expect a significant effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

The Company is from time to time a party to a variety of legal proceedings, claims and assessments arising in the ordinary course of its business.
The Company regularly assesses the liabilities and contingencies in connection with these matters based on the latest information available. For
those matters where it is probable that the Company has incurred or will incur a loss and the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated,
reserves are recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. In other instances, because of the uncertainties related to both the probable
outcome and amount or range of loss, a reasonable estimate of liability, if any, cannot be made. Based on the current expected outcome of such
matters, none of these proceedings, claims or assessments is expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial
condition or results of operations.

In June, August, September and October 2006, the Company received assessments for state excise taxes and related interest amounting to
approximately $4.5 million, related to periods 2002 through 2004, and may receive additional assessments for later periods, which the Company
estimates could aggregate an additional approximate $1.1 million. The Company believes that it is not subject to such taxes and intends to
vigorously dispute the assessment. Based on advice of counsel, the Company currently believes that any exposure for such taxes is not probable,
and accordingly no provision for such taxes is reflected in the Company s financial statements.

As previously disclosed, the SEC s Division of Enforcement has issued a confidential formal order of investigation in connection with the
Company s previous restatement of its financial results. Even though the Company is cooperating fully, it cannot provide any assurances that the
SEC s Division of Enforcement will not take any action that would adversely affect the Company.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisition, development and operation of rental real estate properties. The Company operates office,
industrial and retail properties and apartment units. There are no material inter-segment transactions.

The Company s chief operating decision maker ( CDM ) assesses and measures operating results based upon property level net operating income.
The operating results for the individual assets within each property type have been aggregated since the CDM evaluates operating results and
allocates resources within the various property types.

All operations are within the United States and, at September 30, 2006, no tenant of the Wholly Owned Properties comprised more than 6.8% of
the Company s consolidated revenues.

The following table summarizes the rental income, net operating income and assets for each reportable segment for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2006 2005 2006 2005
Rental and Other Revenues (1):
Office segment $ 88,263 $ 83,365 $260,025  $249,944
Industrial segment 7,401 6,967 21,896 20,956
Retail segment 10,322 9,440 31,096 29,246
Apartment segment 305 279 916 824
Total Rental and Other Revenues $106,291 $100,051 $313,933  $300,970
Net Operating Income (1):
Office segment $ 53,593 $ 51,089 $161,580 $ 158,954
Industrial segment 5,517 5,317 16,670 15,839
Retail segment 6,957 6,509 20,684 20,350
Apartment segment 138 131 407 371
Total Net Operating Income 66,205 63,046 199,341 195,514
Reconciliation to (loss)/income before disposition of property, minority interest and
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortization (29,056) (27,666) (86,565) (84,350)
Interest expense (25,216) (26,135) (76,928) (80,658)
Impairment of assets held for use (2,600) (4,415) (2,600) (7,587)
General and administrative expense (8,546) (7,513) (26,298) (23,859)
Interest and other income 1,189 2,119 4,336 5,453
Loss on debt extinguishment (323) 467) (453)
Income/(loss) before disposition of property, minority interest and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates $ 1976 $ (887) $ 10,819 $ 4,060
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September 30,
2006

Total Assets (2):
Office segment $ 2,207,681
Industrial segment 198,159
Retail segment 257,474
Apartment segment 23,674
Corporate and other 140,718
Total Assets $ 2,827,706

(1) Net of discontinued operations.
(2) Real estate and other assets held for sale are included in this table according to the segment type.

30

December 31,
2005

$ 2,245,595
226,199
259,544

21,121
156,519

$ 2,908,978
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

DiscLoSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly Report may contain forward-looking statements. Such statements include, in particular, statements

about our plans, strategies and prospects under this section. You can identify forward-looking statements by our use of forward-looking

terminology such as may, will, expect, anticipate, estimate, continue or other similar words. Although we believe that our plans, intentior
expectations reflected in or suggested by such forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot assure you that our plans, intentions or

expectations will be achieved. When considering such forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the following important factors that

could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement:

speculative development activity by our competitors in our existing markets could result in an excessive supply of office,
industrial and retail properties relative to tenant demand;

the financial condition of our tenants could deteriorate;

we may not be able to complete development, acquisition, reinvestment, disposition or joint venture projects as quickly or on as
favorable terms as anticipated;

we may not be able to lease or release space quickly or on as favorable terms as old leases;

increases in interest rates would increase our debt service costs;

we may not be able to meet our liquidity requirements or obtain capital on favorable terms to fund our working capital needs and
growth initiatives or to repay or refinance outstanding debt upon maturity;

we could lose key executive officers; and

our southeastern and midwestern markets may suffer unexpected declines in economic growth.
This list of risks and uncertainties, however, is not intended to be exhaustive. You should also review the other cautionary statements we make
in Business Risk Factors set forth in our 2005 Annual Report.

Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly release
the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect any future events or circumstances or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.

OVERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered and self-managed equity REIT that provides leasing, management, development, construction and
other customer-related services for our properties and for third parties. As of September 30, 2006, we owned or had an interest in 414 in-service
office, industrial and retail properties, encompassing 34.9 million square feet and 96 apartment units. As of that date, we also wholly owned 798
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acres of development land, of which 394 acres are considered core holdings. We are based in Raleigh, North Carolina, and our properties and
development land are located in Florida, Georgia, lowa, Kansas, Maryland, Missouri, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia.
Additional information about us can be found on our website at www.highwoods.com. Information on our website is not part of this Quarterly
Report.
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Results of Operations

Although we operate in the industrial, retail and apartment segments, our operating results depend heavily on our office segment. Furthermore,
since more than a majority of our office properties are located in Florida, Georgia and North Carolina, economic growth in those states is and
will continue to be an important determinative factor in predicting our future operating results. Accordingly, most of the analysis and comments
below focus on our office segment properties.

The key components affecting our rental revenue stream are dispositions, acquisitions, new developments placed in service, average occupancy
and rental rates. Average occupancy generally increases during times of improving economic growth, as our ability to lease space outpaces
vacancies that occur upon the expirations of existing leases. Average occupancy generally declines during times of slower economic growth,
when new vacancies tend to outpace our ability to lease space. Asset acquisitions, dispositions and new developments placed in service directly
impact our rental revenues and could impact our average occupancy, depending upon the occupancy rate of the properties that are acquired, sold
or placed in service. A further indicator of the predictability of future revenues is the expected lease expirations of our portfolio. As a result, in
addition to seeking to increase our average occupancy by leasing current vacant space, we also must concentrate our leasing efforts on renewing
leases on expiring space. Whether or not our rental revenue tracks average occupancy proportionally depends upon whether rents under new
leases signed are higher or lower than the rents under the previous leases.

Our expenses primarily consist of rental property expenses, depreciation and amortization, general and administrative expenses and interest
expense. Rental property expenses are expenses associated with our ownership and operation of rental properties and include variable expenses,
such as common area maintenance and utilities, and relatively fixed expenses, such as property taxes and insurance. Some of these variable
expenses may be lower when our average occupancy declines. Fixed expenses remain relatively constant regardless of average occupancy.
Depreciation and amortization is a non-cash expense associated with the ownership of real property and generally remains relatively consistent
each year, unless we buy or sell assets, since we depreciate our properties on a straight-line basis over fixed lives. General and administrative
expenses, net of amounts capitalized, consist primarily of management and employee salaries and other personnel costs, corporate and division
overhead and long-term incentive compensation. Interest expense depends primarily upon the amount of our borrowings, the weighted average
interest rates on our debt and the amount of interest capitalized on development projects.

We record in  equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates our proportionate share of net income or loss, adjusted for purchase accounting
effects, of our unconsolidated joint ventures.

Additionally, SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, requires us to record net income received from
properties sold or held for sale that qualify as discontinued operations under SFAS No. 144 separately as income from discontinued operations.
As a result, we separately record revenues and expenses from these qualifying properties. As also required by SFAS No. 144, prior period results
are reclassified to reflect the operations for such properties in discontinued operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space to our customers and to maintain the quality of our properties to successfully compete against other
properties. Tenant improvements are the costs required to customize the space for the specific needs of the customer. Lease commissions are
costs incurred to find the customer for the space. Lease incentives are costs paid to or on behalf of tenants to induce them to enter into leases and
that do not relate to customizing the space for the tenant s specific needs. Building improvements are recurring capital costs not related to a
customer to maintain the buildings. As leases expire, we either attempt to relet the space to an existing customer or attract a new customer to
occupy the space. Generally, customer renewals require lower leasing capital expenditures than reletting to new customers. However, market
conditions such as supply of available space in the market, as well as demand for space, drive not only customer rental rates but also tenant
improvement costs. Leasing capital expenditures are amortized over the initial term of the lease and building improvements are depreciated over
the appropriate useful life of the assets acquired. Both are included in depreciation and amortization in results of operations.
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Because we are a REIT, we are required under the federal tax laws to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, excluding capital
gains, to our stockholders. We generally use rents received from customers and proceeds from sales of non-core development land to fund our
operating expenses, recurring capital expenditures and stockholder dividends. To fund property acquisitions, development activity or building
renovations, we may sell other assets and may incur debt from time to time. Our debt generally consists of mortgage debt, unsecured debt
securities and borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

Our revolving credit facility and the indenture governing our outstanding long-term unsecured debt securities require us to satisfy various
operating and financial covenants and performance ratios. As a result, to ensure that we do not violate the provisions of these debt instruments,
we may from time to time be limited in undertaking certain activities that may otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders, such as
repurchasing capital stock, acquiring additional assets, increasing the total amount of our debt or increasing stockholder dividends. We review
our current and expected operating results, financial condition and planned strategic actions on an ongoing basis for the purpose of monitoring
our continued compliance with these covenants and ratios. Any unwaived event of default could result in an acceleration of some or all of our
debt, severely restrict our ability to incur additional debt to fund short- and long-term cash needs or result in higher interest expense.

To generate additional capital to fund our growth and other strategic initiatives and to lessen the risks typically associated with owning all of the
interests in a property, we may sell or contribute some of our properties to joint ventures. When we create a joint venture with a strategic partner,
we usually contribute one or more properties and/or vacant land to a newly formed entity in which we retain an equal or less than a majority
interest. In exchange for our interest in the joint venture, we generally receive cash from the partner and retain some or all of the management
income relating to the properties in the joint venture. The joint venture itself will frequently borrow money on its own behalf to finance the
acquisition of, and/or leverage the return upon, the properties being acquired by the joint venture or to build or acquire additional buildings.
Such borrowings are typically on a non-recourse or limited recourse basis. We generally are not liable for the debts of our joint ventures, except
to the extent of our equity investment, unless we have directly guaranteed any of that debt. In most cases, we and/or our strategic partners are
required to guarantee customary exceptions to non-recourse liability in non-recourse loans.

We have historically also sold additional Common Stock or Preferred Stock or issued Common Units to fund additional growth or to reduce our
debt, but we have limited those efforts since 1998 because funds generated from our capital recycling program in recent years have provided
sufficient funds to satisfy our liquidity needs. In addition, we have recently used funds from our capital recycling program to redeem Common
Units and Preferred Stock for cash.

33

53



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

REsuLTS OF OPERATIONS

In accordance with SFAS No. 144 and as described in Note 10 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, we reclassified the
operations and/or gain/(loss) from disposal of certain properties to discontinued operations for all periods presented if the operations and cash
flows have been or will be eliminated from our ongoing operations and we will not have any significant continuing involvement in the
operations after the disposal transaction and the properties were either sold during 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 or were held for sale at
September 30, 2006. Accordingly, any properties sold during 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 that did not meet certain conditions as
stipulated by SFAS No. 144 were not reclassified to discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005

The following table sets forth information regarding our unaudited results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005 (in millions):

Three Months Ended % of
September 30,
2006 2005 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 106.3 $ 100.1 $ 62 6.2%
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expenses 40.1 37.0 3.1 8.4
Depreciation and amortization 29.0 27.7 1.3 4.7
Impairment of assets held for use 2.6 4.4 (1.8) (40.9)
General and administrative 8.5 7.5 1.0 13.3
Total operating expenses 80.2 76.6 3.6 4.7
Interest expense:
Contractual 23.8 24.2 0.4) (1.7)
Amortization of deferred financing costs 0.6 0.8 0.2) (25.0)
Financing obligations 0.8 1.1 (0.3) (27.3)
25.2 26.1 0.9 (3.4)
Other income/(expense):
Interest and other income 1.1 2.1 (1.0) (47.6)
Loss on debt extinguishments 0.3) 0.3 100.0
1.1 1.8 0.7) (38.9)
Income/(loss) before disposition of property, minority interest and equity in earnings
of unconsolidated affiliates 2.0 (0.8) 2.8 350.0
Gains on disposition of property, net 3.0 9.7 (6.7) (69.1)
Minority interest (0.3) (0.3) (100.0)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 1.3 2.1 (0.8) (38.1)
Income from continuing operations 6.0 11.0 5.0) (45.5)
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest 0.3 1.8 (1.5) (83.3)
Net gains on sale and impairments of discontinued operations, net of minority interest 2.6 10.1 (7.5) (74.3)
2.9 11.9 (9.0) (75.6)
Net income 8.9 22.9 (14.0) (61.1)
Dividends on Preferred Stock “.1) (6.7) 2.6 38.8
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption cost over carrying value 4.3) 4.3 100.0
Net income available for common stockholders $ 438 $ 119 $ (7.1 59.7%
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Rental and Other Revenues

The increase in rental and other revenues from continuing operations was primarily the result of higher average occupancy in 2006 as compared
to 2005, the contribution from developed properties placed in service in the later part of 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 and the
consolidation of the Markel joint venture effective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These

increases were partly offset by an approximate $0.5 million decrease in lease termination fees from 2005 to 2006 and the disposition of certain
properties that did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations.
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Operating Expenses

Rental and other operating expenses from continuing operations (real estate taxes, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance and other
property-related expenses) increased $3.1 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to the third quarter of 2005, primarily as a result of
general inflationary increases in certain operating expenses, such as salaries, benefits, utility costs and real estate taxes, expenses of developed
properties placed in service in the second half of 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and the consolidation of the Markel joint
venture effective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These increases were partly offset by a
decrease in operating expenses as a result of the disposition of certain properties that did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued
operations.

Rental revenues less rental and other operating expenses increased in 2006 compared to 2005. However, although the Company recovers a
portion of operating costs from its tenants, which recoveries are included in rental revenues, operating costs in 2006 increased proportionately
more than revenues increased, resulting in a reduction in the percentage of rental revenues less rental and other operating expenses to rental
revenues compared to 2005.

The increase in depreciation and amortization is primarily a result of the contribution from developed properties placed in service in the later
part of 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and the consolidation of the Markel joint venture effective January 1, 2006, as
discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These increases were partly offset by a decrease related to the disposition of
certain properties that did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations.

During the third quarter 2006, impairment of $2.6 million was recorded with respect to an operating property with indicators of impairment
where the carrying value exceeded the sum of estimated undiscounted future cash flows. During the third quarter of 2005, impairment of $4.4
million was recorded with respect to an operating property with indicators of impairment where the carrying value exceeded the sum of
estimated undiscounted future cash flows.

The $1.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily related to higher long-term incentive compensation costs and
higher salary and fringe benefit costs from annual employee wage and salary increases and inflationary effects.

Interest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest was primarily due to a decrease in average borrowings from $1.6 billion in the three months ended
September 30, 2005 to $1.5 billion in the three months ended September 30, 2006, partially offset by an increase in weighted average interest
rates on outstanding debt from 6.6% in the three months ended September 30, 2005 to 7.1% in the three months ended September 30, 2006. In
addition, capitalized interest in the three months ended September 30, 2006 was approximately $0.9 million higher compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2005 due to our increased development activity.

The decrease in amortization of deferred financing costs was primarily related to obtaining the new revolving credit facility in May 2006, as
discussed further in the Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, resulting in a reduction of amortization of deferred financing costs of
approximately $0.2 million from 2005 to 2006.

Interest from financing obligations decreased from the completed sale of three buildings in Richmond, Virginia (the Eastshore transaction) in the
third quarter of 2005 and the elimination of the related financing obligation, which was offset by higher financing obligations in 2006 related to
the SF-HIW Harborview LP.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Minority Interest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Net gains on dispositions of properties not classified as discontinued operations were $3.0 million in the three months ended September 30, 2006
compared to $9.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Gains are dependent on the specific assets sold, their historical cost
basis and other factors, and can vary significantly from period to period.
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The increase in minority interest expense of $0.3 million was primarily due to (1) a corresponding increase in the Operating Partnership s income
from continuing operations, after Preferred Unit distributions, and (2) the minority interest expense from the Markel joint venture.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates decreased $0.8 million from 2005. The decrease was primarily a result of the change in
accounting for the Markel joint venture from equity method to consolidation effective January 1, 2006, as described in Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. This joint venture contributed $0.2 million to equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates during the third
quarter of 2005. In addition, equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates was approximately $0.6 million lower during the third quarter of
2006 due to losses on debt extinguishment for certain joint ventures, which resulted from debt refinancing.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classified net income of $2.9 million and $11.9 million, net of minority interest, as discontinued
operations for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts relate to 6.9 million square feet of office and
industrial property and 46 apartment units sold during 2005 and the third quarter of 2006 and 0.2 million square feet of property and 156
apartment units held for sale at September 30, 2006. These amounts include net gains on the sale of these properties of $2.6 million and $10.1
million, net of minority interest, in the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the three months ended September 30, 2006 of $8.9 million, compared to $22.9 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2005, resulting from the various factors described above.

Preferred Dividends

Preferred dividends decreased $2.6 million due to redemptions of $130 million and $50 million in the third quarter of 2005 and the first quarter
of 2006, respectively.

Net Income Available for Common Stockholders

We recorded net income available for common stockholders in the three months ended September 30, 2006 of $4.8 million, compared to $11.9
million in the three months ended September 30, 2005; this decrease is the net result of the various factors described above.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005

The following table sets forth information regarding our unaudited results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005

(in millions):

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of assets held for use
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Interest expense:

Contractual

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Financing obligations

Other income/(expense):
Interest and other income
Loss on debt extinguishments

Income before disposition of property, minority interest and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates

Gains on disposition of property, net

Minority interest

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest

Net gains on sale and impairments of discontinued operations, net of minority interest

Net income
Dividends on Preferred Stock
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption cost over carrying value

Net income available for common stockholders

Rental and Other Revenues

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005
$313.9 $300.9
114.6 105.4
86.6 84.4
2.6 7.6
26.2 23.8
230.0 221.2
71.8 74.0
1.9 2.5
3.2 4.1
76.9 80.6
4.3 5.5
0.5) (0.5)
3.8 5.0
10.8 4.1
8.3 11.5
(1.2) 0.4
5.3 6.9
23.2 22.9

1.5 7.7

4.6 24.9

6.1 32.6
29.3 55.5
(12.9) (22.1)
(1.8) 4.3)

$ 146 $ 29.1

$ Change
$ 13.0

9.2
2.2

(5.0)
24

8.8

2.2)
(0.6)
0.9)

(3.7)

(1.2)

(1.2)
6.7
(3.2)

(1.6)
(1.6)

0.3

(6.2)
(20.3)

(26.5)

(26.2)
9.2
25

$ (14.5)

% of

Change
4.3%

8.7
2.6

(65.8)
10.1

4.0

(3.0
(24.0)
(22.0)

(4.6)

(21.8)

(24.0)
163.4
(27.8)

(400.0)
(23.2)

1.3

(80.5)
(81.5)

(81.3)

47.2)
41.6
58.1

(49.8)%

The increase in rental and other revenues from continuing operations was primarily the result of higher average occupancy in 2006 as compared
to 2005, the contribution from developed properties placed in service in the later part of 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 and the
consolidation of the Markel joint venture effective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These
increases were partly offset by an approximate $3.0 million decrease in lease termination fees from 2005 to 2006 and the disposition of certain
properties that did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations including the recognition of Eastshore as a completed sale

which occurred in the third quarter of 2005.
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Operating Expenses

Rental and other operating expenses from continuing operations (real estate taxes, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance and other
property-related expenses) increased $9.2 million in the nine months ended September 31, 2006 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2005, primarily as a result of general inflationary increases in certain operating expenses, such as salaries, benefits, utility costs
and real estate taxes, expenses of developed properties placed in service in the second half of 2005 and the consolidation of the Markel
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joint venture effective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These increases were partly offset by a
decrease in operating expenses as a result of the disposition of certain properties that did not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued
operations including the recognition of Eastshore as a completed sale which occurred in the third quarter of 2005.

Rental revenues less rental and other operating expenses increased in 2006 compared to 2005. However, although the Company recovers a
portion of operating costs from its tenants, which recoveries are included in rental revenues, operating costs in 2006 increased proportionately
more than revenues increased, resulting in a reduction in the percentage of rental revenues less rental and other operating expenses to rental
revenues compared to 2005.

The increase in depreciation and amortization is primarily a result of the contribution from developed properties placed in service in the later
part of 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 and the consolidation of the Markel joint venture effective January 1, 2006, as discussed in Note 1
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These increases were partly offset by a decrease related to the disposition of certain properties that did
not meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued operations including the recognition of Eastshore as a completed sale which occurred in the
third quarter of 2005.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, one property had indicators of impairment where the carrying value exceeded the sum of the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows. Therefore, an impairment loss of $2.6 million was recorded in the nine months ended

September 30, 2006. For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, one land parcel had indicators of impairment where the carrying value
exceeded the sum of estimated undiscounted future cash flows. Therefore, an impairment loss of $3.2 million was recorded in the nine months
ended September 30, 2005. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, impairment of $4.4 million was recorded with respect to an
additional operating property with indicators of impairment.

The $2.4 million increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily related to higher long-term incentive compensation costs, higher
phantom stock costs related to deferred compensation, higher salary and fringe benefit costs from annual employee wage and salary increases,
inflationary effects on other general and administrative expenses and costs related to the retirement of a certain officer at June 30, 2006.

Interest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest was primarily due to a decrease in average borrowings from $1.5 billion in the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 to $1.4 billion in the nine months ended September 30, 2006, partially offset by an increase in weighted average interest
rates on outstanding debt from 6.7% in the nine months ended September 30, 2005 to 7.0% in the nine months ended September 30, 2006. In
addition, capitalized interest in 2006 was approximately $1.1 million higher compared to 2005 due to increased development activity and higher
average construction and development costs.

The decrease in amortization of deferred financing costs was primarily related to obtaining the new revolving credit facility in May 2006, as
discussed further in the Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, resulting in a reduction of amortization of deferred financing costs of
approximately $0.6 million from 2005 to 2006.

The decrease in interest from financing obligations was primarily a result of the completed sale of three buildings in Richmond, Virginia (the
Eastshore transaction) in the third quarter of 2005 and the elimination of the related financing obligation. Partly offsetting this decrease was an
increase in 2006 related to the SF-HIW Harborview LP.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Minority Interest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Net gains on dispositions of properties, net, not classified as discontinued operations were $8.3 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 2006 compared to $11.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. Gains are dependent on the specific assets sold,
their historical cost basis and other factors, and can vary significantly from period to period.

The change in minority interest in the continuing operations, after Preferred Unit distributions, was primarily due to (1) a corresponding decrease
in the Operating Partnership s income from continuing operations, after Preferred Unit distributions, in 2006 versus a loss in 2005, and (2) the
minority interest expense from the Markel joint venture.
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Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates decreased $1.6 million from 2005. The Markel joint venture contributed $0.6 million to equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates during the nine months ended September 30, 2005; the accounting for this joint venture changed from
equity method to consolidation effective January 1, 2006, as described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the Plaza
Colonnade LLC joint venture provided an additional $0.6 million in earnings during 2005 due to the application of FAS 67 and the related
adjustments for capitalized interest. Furthermore, equity in earnings was $0.7 million lower during the nine months ended September 30, 2006
due to losses on debt extinguishment for certain joint ventures, which resulted from debt refinancings, offset by common area maintenance true
ups in various joint ventures, which contributed approximately $0.2 million of additional equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates through
the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classified net income of $6.1 million and $32.6 million, net of minority interest, as discontinued
operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts relate to 6.9 million square feet of office and
industrial property and 46 apartment units sold during 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 and 0.2 million square feet of property and 156
apartment units held for sale at September 30, 2006. These amounts include net gains on the sale of these properties of $4.6 million and $24.9
million, net of minority interest, in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 of $29.3 million, compared to $55.5 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 2005, resulting from the various factors described above.

Preferred Dividends

Preferred dividends decreased $9.2 million due to redemptions of $130 million and $50 million in the third quarter of 2005 and the first quarter
of 2006, respectively. The excess of redemption cost over carrying value of $1.8 million in 2006 relates to the $50 million Preferred Stock
redemption in the first quarter of 2006.

Net Income Available for Common Stockholders

We recorded net income available for common stockholders in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 of $14.6 million, compared to $29.1
million in the nine months ended September 30, 2005; this decrease is the net result of the various factors described above.
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Ligumnity AND CapiTAL RESOURCES
Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our cash flows based on operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. The
following table sets forth the changes in our cash flows in the first nine months of 2006 as compared to the first nine months of 2005 (in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 109,175 $ 122,263 $ (13,088)
Cash Provided By Investing Activities 78,689 226,830 (148,141)
Cash Used In Financing Activities (181,552) (372,929) 191,377
Total Cash Flows $ 6312 $ (23,836) $ 30,148

In calculating cash flow from operating activities, GAAP requires us to add depreciation and amortization, which are non-cash expenses, back to
net income. As a result, we have historically generated a significant positive amount of cash from operating activities. From period to period,
cash flow from operations depends primarily upon changes in our net income, as discussed more fully above under Results of Operations,
changes in receivables and payables, and net additions or decreases in our overall portfolio, which affect the amount of depreciation and
amortization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activities generally relates to capitalized costs incurred for leasing and major building improvements, and
our acquisition, development, disposition and joint venture activity. During periods of significant net acquisition and/or development activity,
our cash used in such investing activities will generally exceed cash provided by investing activities, which typically consists of cash received
upon the sale of properties and distributions of capital from our joint ventures.

Cash used in financing activities generally relates to stockholder dividends, distributions on Common Units, incurrence and repayment of debt
and sales, repurchases or redemptions of Common Stock, Common Units and Preferred Stock. As discussed previously, we use a significant
amount of our cash to fund stockholder dividends and Common Unit distributions. Whether or not we incur significant new debt during a period
depends generally upon the net effect of our acquisition, disposition, development and joint venture activity. We use our revolving credit facility
for working capital purposes, which means that during any given period, in order to minimize interest expense associated with balances
outstanding under our revolving credit facility, we will likely record significant repayments and borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

The decrease of $13.1 million in cash provided by operating activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same
period in 2005 was primarily the result of lower cash flows from net income adjusted for changes in depreciation and gains and impairments,
partially offset by a $1.6 million increase from net changes in operating assets and liabilities.

The decrease of $148.1 million in cash provided by investing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same
period in 2005 was primarily a result of a $156.1 million decrease in proceeds from dispositions of real estate assets and an $11.1 million
increase in additions to real estate assets and deferred leasing costs. Partly offsetting these decreases was an increase of $12.4 million in other
investing activities that resulted from a collateral substitution on a certain secured note, pursuant to which the lender returned $11.8 million in
restricted cash and property and an increase of $9.2 million in distributions of capital from unconsolidated affiliates as a result of a refinancing
of debt, as described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The decrease of $191.4 million in cash used in financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was primarily a result of a
decrease of $80.0 million in redemptions of Preferred Stock from 2005 to 2006, an $84.3 million increase in net borrowings on our revolving
credit facility and mortgages and notes payable, a decrease of $9.2 million in preferred dividend payments in connection with the Preferred
Stock redemption, and an increase of $26.6 million in net proceeds form the sale of Common Stock due to the exercise of stock options during
the third quarter of 2006, as described in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In 2006, we continued our capital recycling program of selectively disposing of non-core properties in order to use the net proceeds for
investments or other purposes. At September 30, 2006, we had 0.2 million rentable square feet of properties, 156 apartment units and 161.3 acres
of land classified as held for sale pursuant to SFAS No. 144 with a carrying value of $47.0 million.

Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalization as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

September 30, December 31,
2006 2005
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book value $ 1,461,105 $ 1,471,616
Financing obligations $ 36,098 $ 34,154
Preferred Stock, at liquidation value $ 197,445  $ 247,445
Common Stock and Common Units outstanding 60,649 59,479
Per share stock price at period end $ 3721  § 28.45
Market value of Common Stock and Common Units 2,256,749 1,692,178
Total market capitalization with debt $55,696
Customer backlog 17,450 (17,450)
Land lease 11,810 (379) 11,431
Tradename 5,800 5,800
Customer list and programs 5,700 (154) 5,546
Noncompete agreement 110 (29) 81
Net identifiable intangible assets $ 99,370 $ (20,816) $ 78,554
Accumulated
October 1, 2004 Cost Amortization Net
Technology $ 58,500 $ (1,350) $ 57,150
Customer backlog 17,450 (12,148) 5,302
Land lease 11,810 (181) 11,629
Tradename 4,400 4,400
Net identifiable intangible assets $ 92,160 $ (13,679) $ 78,481

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangibles as of July 1, 2005 was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount

2005 (remaining three months) $ 612
2006 2,452
2007 2,452
2008 2,452
2009 2,452
Thereafter 68,134
Total $ 78,554

10. Econco Acquisition

On October 8, 2004, the Company purchased all of the outstanding stock of Econco Broadcast Service, Inc. ( Econco ) of Woodland, California
for cash consideration of approximately $18.3 million. Econco is a provider of rebuilding service for VEDs, allowing broadcasters and other
users of these critical products to extend the life of their devices at a cost that is lower than buying a new VED.
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The Econco acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as required by Financial Accounting Standards Board

( FASB ) Statement No. 141, Business Combinations. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Econco were adjusted to their fair values and the
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets acquired was recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price to specific
assets and liabilities was based, in part, upon independent appraisals and internal estimates of cash flow and recoverability.

Under the Econco purchase agreement, the Company was required to reimburse the selling shareholders of Econco for certain costs associated
with a tax election to treat the transaction as an asset sale. Included in the preliminary estimate
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of the fair value of the Econco assets was an accrual for the estimated amount of the reimbursement to the selling shareholders. During the third
quarter of fiscal year 2005, the shareholders were paid for costs associated with the tax election and the final estimate of the fair value of the
Econco assets was computed. The final purchase price was $0.4 million lower than the preliminary estimate. The following table summarizes
the final allocation of fair value of the Econco assets acquired and liabilities assumed at October 8, 2004 (in thousands):

Cash $ 21
Accounts receivable 1,346
Inventory, including $351 of fair value write-up 1,919
Property, plant and equipment 3,239
Identifiable intangible assets 7,210
Goodwill 5,848
Current liabilities (1,237)
Total $ 18,346

The following table presents details of the purchased intangible assets acquired (dollars in thousands):

Estimated

Useful Life Amount
Non-compete agreement 5 years $ 110
Tradename indefinite 1,400
Customer list and programs 25 years 5,700
Total $ 7,210

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include Econco s financial results from the acquisition date. Pro forma results of operations
have not been presented because the effect of the Econco acquisition was not material to the Company s results.

11.  Stockholders Equity

In February 2005, the Board of Directors declared a cash distribution to stockholders of approximately $75.8 million, which was essentially a
return of capital. The cash distribution was made on the basis of the stockholders relative ownership in CPI Holdco s outstanding common stock
and was paid out of the net proceeds from the issuance of the $80 million in principal amount of FR Notes.

As a result of the cash distribution to stockholders, CPI Holdco adjusted the options outstanding under the Predecessor s 2000 Stock Option Plan
and CPI Holdco s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan pursuant to the terms of those plans to reflect the distribution made to the stockholders of CPI
Holdco. As aresult of these adjustments, the exercise price of the options outstanding under these plans was adjusted by dividing the prior
exercise price of such options by 1.781, the number of shares issuable upon exercise of those options was adjusted by multiplying the number of
shares previously issuable pursuant to the options by 1.781, and the total number of shares reserved for issuance under each such plan was also
increased by a factor of 1.781. These adjustments increased the number of options outstanding from approximately 526,000 to 937,000 and
reduced the range of exercise prices of the options outstanding from $1.10 to $36.00 down to $0.62 to $20.21.
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In accordance with FASB Interpretation 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation , the Company determined that
there were no accounting consequences for the adjustments made to the number of options issued and exercise prices. It was determined that the
aggregate intrinsic value of the stock options immediately after the adjustment was not greater that aggregate intrinsic value of the stock options
immediately before the adjustment and the ratio of exercise price per share to the market value was not reduced.

12.  Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments ( EITF 03-01 ). EITF 03-01 provides guidance on other-than-temporary impairment
models for marketable debt and equity securities accounted for under SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities and non-marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method. The EITF developed a basic three-step model to evaluate
whether an investment is other-than-
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temporarily impaired. The FASB issued EITF 03-01-1 in September 2004, which delayed the effective date of the recognition and measurement
provisions of EITF 03-01. The Company does not expect the adoption of EITF 03-01 to have a material impact on our results of operations or
financial condition.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 , which is the result of the FASB s
project to reduce differences between U.S. and international accounting standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility costs, abnormal freight,
handling costs, and amounts of wasted materials (spoilage) be treated as current-period costs. Under this concept, if the costs associated with the
actual level of spoilage or production defects are greater than the costs associated with the range of normal spoilage or defects, the difference

would be charged to current-period expense, not included in inventory costs. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 151 in the beginning

of fiscal year 2006 and its adoption is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company s results of operations or financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets An amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, which
eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of
nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 153 for nonmonetary asset exchanges
occurring in the first quarter of 2006 and its adoption is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company s results of operations or
financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ( SFAS No. 123R ). SFAS No. 123R requires
companies to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to
employees, but expresses no preference for a type of valuation model. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the intrinsic value-based method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations, that the Company
currently uses. As a nonpublic entity as defined by SFAS No. 123R, the Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the beginning of fiscal
year 2007. The Company has not yet determined the impact of applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which clarifies that an entity
is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value can be reasonably estimated even
though uncertainty exists about the timing and (or) method of settlement. The Company is required to adopt Interpretation No. 47 by the end of
2006. The Company has not yet determined the impact of applying the provisions of Interpretation No. 47.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. SFAS No. 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20,

Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statement, and changes the requirements for the
accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 154 for accounting changes and
error corrections in fiscal year 2007. The Company s results of operations and financial condition will only be impacted by SFAS No. 154 if it
implements changes in accounting principle that are addressed by the standard or corrects accounting errors in future periods.

13.  Supplemental Guarantors Condensed Consolidating Financial Information (Unaudited)

On January 23, 2004, CPI issued $125.0 million of 8% Notes that are guaranteed by CPI Holdco and all of CPI s domestic subsidiaries. Separate
financial statements of the guarantors are not presented because (i) the guarantors are wholly-owned and have fully and unconditionally
guaranteed the 8% Notes on a joint and several basis, and (ii) the Company s management has determined that such separate financial statements
are not material to investors. Instead, presented below are the consolidating condensed financial statements of: (a) the parent, CPI Holdco or
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Holding, (b) the issuer, CPI, (c) the guarantor subsidiaries, our domestic subsidiaries (d) the non-guarantor subsidiaries, (e) the consolidating
elimination entries, and (f) the consolidated total. The Predecessor parent is Holding, and the Successor parent is CPI Holdco. The
accompanying consolidating condensed financial statements should be read in connection with the consolidated financial statements of CPI
Holdco.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for on the equity method. The principal elimination entries eliminate investments in subsidiaries,
intercompany balances, intercompany transactions and intercompany sales.
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Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net
Inventories

Deferred tax assets

Prepaids and other current assets
Intercompany receivable

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Debt issue costs, net

Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Other long-term assets
Intercompany notes receivable
Investment in subsidiaries

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders
equity

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Product warranty

Income taxes payable

Advance payments from customers
Intercompany payable

Total current liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Advance payments from sale of
San Carlos property

Long-term debt

Other long-term liabilities
Intercompany notes payable
Total liabilities

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital
Parent investment

Accumulated other comprehensive
income

Retained earnings

Net stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders
equity

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

As of July 1, 2005 (Successor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

33

33

3,381

1,000

154,074
158,488

2,551

28,134
30,685

79,218

109,903
43
28,601

1,177
18,764
48,585

158,488

(in thousands)

Issuer
(CPY)

14,614

25,865
31,651
12,499
3,241
27,079
114,949
66,194
8,035
61,899
92,041
853
9,535
47,690
401,196

11,373
20,114
3,469
1,187
3,754

39,897
29,215

13,450
205,000
84

287,646

92,160
1,041
20,349
113,550

401,196

20

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

514
1,911
6,819
1,350

268
370
11,232
3,188

7,027
5,848

27,295

540
925
176
605
1,346

3,592

3,592

22,228

1,475

23,703

27,295

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

1,947
108
15,707
14,155
36
1,066
685
33,704
7,930

9,628
47,573

98,835

5,989
3,810
2,386
4,059
2,907

19,151
5,774

9,535
34,460
57,216

287

6,872

64,375

98,835

Consolidating
Eliminations

(28,134)
(28,134)

(9,535)
(201,764)
(239,433)

(28,134)
(28,134)

(9,535)
(37,669)
(171,604)
(1,464)
(28,696)
(201,764)

(239,433)

Consolidated
Total

17,108
2,019
48,391
47,156
12,535
4,575

131,784
77,312
11,416
78,554

145,462

1,853

446,381

17,902
27,400
6,031
5,851
8,007

65,191
34,989

13,450
284,218
84

397,932

43
28,601

1,041
18,764
48,449

446,381
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Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net
Inventories

Deferred tax assets

Prepaids and other current assets
Intercompany receivable

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Debt issue costs, net

Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Other long-term assets
Intercompany notes receivable
Investment in subsidiaries

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders
equity

Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Product warranty

Income taxes payable

Advance payments from customers
Intercompany payable

Total current liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Advance payments from sale of
San Carlos property

Long-term debt

Intercompany notes payable
Total liabilities

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Parent investment

Accumulated other comprehensive
income

Retained earnings (deficit)

Net stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders
equity

$

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

As of October 1, 2004 (Successor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

135,688
135,688

28,094
28,094

28,094
43
103,534

1,369
2,648
107,594

135,688

(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantor
(CPI) Subsidiaries
38,131 113
2,188
21,424 3,806
28,916 99
12,285
3,066 168
26,841
130,663 6,374
62,162 22
8,910
67,847
92,041
1,251
13,335
21,073
397,282 6,396
3,944
11,556 99
17,449 561
3,877
1,274
6,463 1,012
477
44,563 2,149
32,936
13,450
210,606
301,555 2,149
91,710 3,882
1,369
2,648 365
95,727 4,247
397,282 6,396

Non-Guarantor  Consolidating

Subsidiaries Eliminations
2,232
91
10,684
9,059
570 (8)
1,730 (28,571)
24,366 (28,579)
7,943
10,634
47,573
(13,335)
(156,761)
90,516 (198,675)
4,135
2,929
2,197
395 (8)
4,556
(28,571)
14,212 (28,579)
6,182
13,335 (13,335)
33,729 (41,914)
56,790 (152,382)
54 (1,423)
57 (2,956)
56,787 (156,761)
90,516 (198,675)

Consolidated
Total

40,476
2,279
35,914
38,074
12,285
3,796

132,824
70,127
8,910
78,481
139,614
1,251

431,207

3,944
15,790
20,939

6,074

1,661
12,031

60,439
39,118

13,450
210,606

323,613

43
103,534

1,369
2,648
107,594

431,207
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative
Amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense (income), net
(Loss) income before income tax
expense and equity in income of
subsidiaries

Income tax (benefit) expense
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Net income

For the 13-Week Period Ended July 1, 2005 (Succecessor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

1,832

(1,832)

(733)
7,797
6,698

(in thousands)

Issuer

(CPI)
61,172
43,244
17,928

606
1,852
4,146

334
6,938
10,990
3,600

7,390
2,820
3,227
7,797

Guarantor
Subsidiaries
12,679
10,214
2,465

876
701

63

1,640

825
®)

833
441

392

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

32,818

23,420

9,398

1,293
2,016
942

151
4,402
4,996

273

4,723
1,888

2,835

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Cost of sales

Amortization of acquisition-related
inventory write-up

Gross profit

Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative
Amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets

Acquired in-process research and
development

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

For the 13-Week Period Ended July 2, 2004 (Successor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

Issuer

(CPI)
56,223
39,235

1,000
15,988

555
1,813
3,964

3,988

(4,485)

5,835
10,153

(in thousands - unaudited)

Guarantor
Subsidiaries
8,901
7,870

1,031

534

80

614
417

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

24,935

19,721

280
4,934

1,314
1,509
967

694
(4,515)

(3D
4,965

Consolidating Consolidated
Eliminations Total

(19,030) 87,639
(19,030) 57,848
29,791

1,899
4,744
5,789

548
12,980
16,811

5,697

11,114
4416

(11,024)

(11,024) 6,698

Consolidating Consolidated
Eliminations Total

(17,714) 72,345
(17,714) 49,112

1,280
21,953

1,869
3,856
5,011
4,682
(9,000)

6,418
15,535
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Interest expense (income), net
Income before income tax expense
and equity in loss of subsidiaries
Income tax expense (benefit)
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Net income

3,387

6,766

583

11,471 5,288
11,471 11,471

22

3)

420
4

416

438

4,527
(345)

4,872

(16,759)
(16,759)

3,822

11,713
242

11,471
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Cost of sales

Amortization of acquisition-related
inventory write-up

Gross profit

Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative
Amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense (income), net
(Loss) income before income tax
expense and equity in income of
subsidiaries

Income tax (benefit) expense
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Net income

For the 39-Week Period Ended July 1, 2005 (Succecessor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

2,643

(2,643)
(1,057)
17,702
16,116

(in thousands)

Issuer

(CPI)
174,738
123,035

51,703

1,797
5,547
10,438

5,751
23,533
28,170
11,044

17,126
7,151
17,727

17,702

23

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

33,934
27,507

351
6,076

2,522
1,538

183
4,243
1,833

(23)

1,856
746

1,110

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

88,636
63,843

24,793

3,408
5,328
3,688

1,006
13,430
11,363

845

10,518
3,901

6,617

Consolidating

Eliminations
(51,473)
(51,473)

(25,429)
(25,429)

Consolidated
Total

245,835
162,912

351
82,572

5,205
13,397
15,664

6,940
41,206
41,366
14,509

26,857
10,741

16,116

75



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Cost of sales

Amortization of acquisition-related
inventory write-up

Gross profit

Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative
Amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets

Acquired in-process research and
development

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense (income), net
Income before income tax expense
and equity in of subsidiaries
Income tax expense (benefit)
Equity in income of subsidiaries
Net income

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Merger expenses
Intercompany income

Total operating costs and expenses
Operating (loss) income
Interest expense (income), net

From January 23, 2004 to July 2, 2004 (Successor)

Parent
(CPI
Holdco)

4,638
4,638

Parent
(CPI

Holding)

355
5,074
(755)
4,674
(4,674)
590

Issuer

(CPI)
105,192
71,809

4,300
29,083

933
3,304
6,099

7,084

1,415
18,835
10,248

6,003

4,245
1,194
1,587
4,638

Issuer

(CPI)
60,721
43,551
17,170

607
2,136
4,973
1,300

(215)
8,801
8,369
7,731

(in thousands - unaudited)

Guarantor

Subsidiaries
15,579
13,815

1,764

1,000
396

1,396
368
“

372
11

361

(in thousands - unadudited)

Guarantor
Subsidiaries
10,673
9,448
1,225

591
236

(53)

774

451
3

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

47,163

35,243

1,200
10,720

2,400
2,690
2,028

994
1,085
9,197
1,523

773

750

(476)

1,226

From October 4, 2003 to January 22, 2004 (Predecessor)

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

26,470

21,223

5,247

1,593
1,678
1,508

4,779
468
584

Consolidating
Eliminations

(29,948)
(29,948)

(6,225)
(6,225)

Consolidating
Eliminations
(17,945)
(18,033)
88

(53)
(1,039)

1,023
(69)
157

Consolidated
Total
137,986
90,919

5,500
41,567

3,333
6,994
8,523

8,078

2,500
29,428
12,139

6,772

5,367
729

4,638

Consolidated
Total
79,919
56,189
23,730

2,200
4,352
6,033
6,374

18,959

4,771
8,902
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(Loss) income before income tax
expense and equity in income of
subsidiaries

Income tax expense

Equity in income of subsidiaries
Net (loss) income

(5,264)

694
(4,570)

638
334
321
625

24

454
55

399

(116)
50

(166)

157

(1,015)
(858)

4,131)
439

(4,570)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the 39-Week Period Ended July 1, 2005 (Successor)

(in thousands)

Parent
(CP1 Issuer Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Consolidating Consolidated

Holdco) (CPI) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash provided by operating
activities $ 1,097 13,519 553 114 15,283
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenses relating to sale of San
Carlos property (216) (216)
Purchase of Econco s net assets, net
of cash acquired (18,325) (18,325)
Purchase of property, plant, and
equipment (8,336) (132) (399) (8,867)
Other investing activities (16) (16)
Net cash used in investing activities (26,893) (132) (399) (27,424)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of floating
rate senior notes 79,200 79,200
Payments for debt issuance costs (3,455) (3,455)
Repayments on senior term loan (9,550) (9,550)
Stockholder distribution payments (75,809) (75,809)
Payment of collateral on interest
rate swap contract (1,000) (1,000)
Other financing activities (80) (20) (100)
Net repayments from bank
overdraft (513) (513)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,064) (10,143) (20) (11,227)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE)
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 33 (23,517) 401 (285) (23,368)
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of period 38,131 113 2,232 40,476
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
period $ 33 14,614 514 1,947 17,108

25
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
From January 23, 2004 to July 2, 2004 (Successor)

(in thousands - unaudited)

Parent
(CPI Issuer Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Holdco) (CPI) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 15,685 (11,019) 2,917 3,881
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Predecessor s net assets,
net of cash acquired (113,760)
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment, net (1,102) (13) (107)
Net cash used in investing activities (113,760) (1,102) (13) (107)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Retirement of debt and preferred
stock:
Senior subordinated notes (74,000)
Senior redeemable preferred stock (29,735)
Junior preferred stock (32,336)
Dividends on senior preferred stock (19,310)
Mortgage financing (17,500)
Proceeds from/(payments for) the
issuance of debt:
Senior subordinated notes 125,000
Senior term loans 90,000
Debt issue costs (9,648)
Proceeds from the repayment of
Predecessor management loans 1,266
Net proceeds from the issuance of
common stock 98,075
Repayments on senior term loan (225)
Net proceeds from bank overdraft 2,150
Net cash provided by financing
activities 98,075 35,662
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 23,541 2,904 3,774
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
period $ 23,541 2,904 3,774

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
From October 4, 2003 to January 22, 2004 (Predecessor)

(in thousands - unaudited)

Consolidating
Eliminations

Consolidated
Total

11,464

(113,760)

(1,222)
(114,982)

(74,000)
(29,735)
(32,336)
(19,310)
(17,500)

125,000
90,000
(9,648)

1,266
98,075
(225)
2,150
133,737

30,219

30,219
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment, net

Retirement of senior subordinated
notes

Net repayment of bank overdraft
Net cash used in financing activities
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
period

Parent
(CPI
Holding)

Issuer
(CPI)

8,152

(416)
(26,000)
(1,639)
(27,639)
(19,903)
30,561

10,658

26

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

206

@)

204
1,718

1,922

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

(145)

(41

(186)
1,472

1,286

Consolidating
Eliminations

Consolidated
Total

8,213

(459)
(26,000)
(1,639)
(27,639)
(19,885)

33,751

13,866
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ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
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The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto
included elsewhere within this report and the Annual Report on Form 10-K of CPI Holdco, Inc. ( CPI Holdco or the Successor ) for the
fiscal year ended October 1, 2004. References to the Company refer to Communications & Power Industries Holding Corporation

( Holding or the Predecessor ) and its subsidiaries prior to the Merger (defined below) and to the Successor and its subsidiaries

post-Merger.
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The Company is a leading designer, manufacturer and global marketer of vacuum electron devices ( VEDs ), satellite communications amplifiers,
medical x-ray generators and other related products for critical defense and commercial applications. The Company s defense applications

include radar, electronic warfare and communications end markets and its commercial applications include communications, medical, industrial
and scientific end markets. Communications applications consist of applications for military and commercial satellite communications uses and
broadcast uses. The Company defines and discusses its recorded orders and sales trends by these end markets in order to more clearly relate its
business to outside investors. Internally, however, the Company is organized into six operating divisions that are differentiated based on

products operating in two segments. The Company s VED segment consists of five operating divisions. The Company also has a satellite
communications equipment segment that has one operating division. Segment data is included in Note 8 of the Notes to Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Floating Rate Senior Notes

On February 22, 2005, CPI Holdco issued $80 million in principal amount of Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2015 (the FR Notes ). The FR
Notes were issued at a 1% discount; the gross cash proceeds from the issuance of FR Notes were $79.2 million. The proceeds from the issuance
of FR Notes were used to make a distribution to stockholders of CPI Holdco of approximately $75.8 million and to pay fees and expenses of
approximately $3.5 million associated with the issuance of FR Notes.

The FR Notes require interest payments at an annual interest rate, reset at the beginning of each semi-annual period, equal to the then six-month
LIBOR plus 5.75%, payable semiannually. CPI Holdco mays, at its option, elect to pay interest through the issuance of additional FR Notes for
any interest payment date on or after August 1, 2006 and on or before February 1, 2010. If CPI Holdco elects to pay interest through the issuance
of additional FR Notes, the annual interest rate on the FR Notes will increase by an additional 1% step-up, with the step-up increasing by an
additional 1% for each interest payment made through the issuance of additional FR Notes (up to a maximum of 4%).

The FR Notes are general unsecured obligations of CPI Holdco. The FR Notes are not guaranteed by any of CPI Holdco s subsidiaries and are
structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of CPI Holdco s subsidiaries. The FR Notes are senior in
right of payment to the Company s existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the FR Notes. See Note 6 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company s registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to the offer to exchange all outstanding FR
Notes due 2015 for FR Notes due 2015 that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, was declared effective on
April 21, 2005.

Econco Acquisition

On October 8, 2004, the Company purchased all of the outstanding stock of Econco Broadcast Service, Inc. ( Econco ) of Woodland, California
for cash consideration of approximately $18.3 million. Econco is a provider of rebuilding service for VEDs, allowing broadcasters and other
users of these critical products to extend the life of their devices at a cost that is lower than buying a new VED. See Note 10 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about the Econco acquisition.

Merger

85



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

On January 23, 2004, CPI Holdco s wholly-owned subsidiary, CPI Merger Sub Corp. ( Merger Sub ), merged with and into Holding pursuant to
the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement ), dated as of November 17, 2003, by and among Holding, CPI Holdco,
Merger Sub and Green Equity Investors II, L.P., as the representative of the security holders of Holding, under which CPI Holdco, Merger Sub s
parent corporation and a corporation controlled by affiliates of The Cypress Group L.L.C. ( Cypress ), agreed to acquire Holding. In the Merger,
each share of Holding s common stock and stock options outstanding immediately prior to the Merger, other than a portion of stock options held
by certain members of management (which were converted into options to purchase shares of CPI Holdco) and other than any shares of common
stock owned by Holding or CPI Holdco, were converted into the right to receive a pro rata portion of the aggregate merger consideration of
$131.7 million. In connection with the Merger, CPI Holdco received an equity contribution

27
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of $100.0 million before expenses from affiliates of Cypress in exchange for 4,251,122 shares of common stock of CPI Holdco. Members of
management of Holding, as a result of rolling over their options to purchase common stock of Holding, received stock options to purchase
167,513 shares of common stock of CPI Holdco ( Rollover Options ). The estimated fair value of Rollover Options was $5.0 million and was
accounted for as Merger purchase price as of January 23, 2004. Members of Holding management that were residents of Canada received 1,485
stock options to purchase shares of common stock of CPI Holdco as payment of Merger escrow proceeds in respect of their options to purchase
shares of Holding.

Although the Merger, which essentially resulted in the recapitalization of the Company, triggered a change in the basis of many of the
Company s assets and liabilities, the underlying operations of the Company were not impacted by the Merger.

San Carlos Sale Agreement

The Company entered into an agreement to sell the land and close its facilities located in San Carlos, California. The purchase price is $23.8

million. Under the sale agreement, the buyer has paid the Company a $13.0 million deposit on the purchase price, which the Company is using

to defray the costs of moving its San Carlos operations to its Palo Alto facility and to a new location in the Palo Alto area. The $13.0 million

deposit is nonrefundable unless the Company breaches the sale agreement. In connection with the sale agreement, the Company entered into an

agreement regarding environmental conditions at the property and was named as an additional insured on a pollution liability insurance policy

obtained by the purchaser that is intended to fund the remediation of the contamination of the San Carlos property to permit hospital and other
unrestricted uses under the direction of the applicable environmental regulatory agency.

The closing of the sale is subject to a number of conditions, including the requirement that the Company vacate its facilities and obtain
regulatory closure of certain permitted equipment located on the property. Although there can be no assurance that the sale of the San Carlos
property will occur, the Company expects to close the sale of the property in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007.

Pursuant to the stock sale agreement by and between Varian Associates, Inc., the predecessor of Varian Medical Systems, Inc. ( Varian ), and the
Company dated June 9, 1995, as amended, the Company had agreed to certain development restrictions affecting the San Carlos property. In
connection with the San Carlos property sale agreement, Varian agreed to waive certain of the development restrictions on the San Carlos
property in the event that the sale closes, subject to certain conditions, and further agreed to pay the Company $1.0 million, of which $0.5

million was paid as of July 1, 2005. In addition, the Company has agreed to relieve Varian of certain of its indemnity obligations to the

Company for certain environmental liabilities related to the San Carlos property relating to periods prior to August 1995, and to reimburse

Varian for certain potential environmental costs related to the San Carlos property that are not covered by insurance. The Company and Varian
have also agreed to certain use restrictions and environmental cost-sharing provisions related to the Company s property in Beverly,
Massachusetts, and the Company has relinquished its right to redevelop that property for residential or similar use.

As of July 1, 2005, the San Carlos land and building was classified as held for use in property, plant and equipment and the advance payments
from the sale of the property, aggregating $13.5 million, are classified as a long-term liability in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheet. As of July 1, 2005, the Company had deferred expenses of $0.7 million relating to the sale of the San Carlos property and
classified these amounts as other long-term assets in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of July 1, 2005, the San
Carlos land and building had a net book value of $23.7 million and the building continues to be depreciated over its remaining useful life. Based
on current projections of costs, the Company does not expect to recognize a loss on the sale of the San Carlos property.

Critical Accounting Policies
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Management is required to make judgments, assumptions and estimates in preparing its financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The Company s significant accounting policies are described in
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 1, 2004. The
following critical accounting policies are those policies that management believes affect its more significant estimates and assumptions used in
preparation of the Company s consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

The estimated sales values of performance under certain contracts to commercial customers and U. S. Government fixed-price contracts are
recognized under the percentage of completion method of accounting. When applying the percentage of completion method, the Company relies
on estimates of total expected contract revenue and costs. Recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions as the contract progresses
towards completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to income in the period in which they become determinable.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company monitors the creditworthiness of its customers based on a variety of factors including the length of time the
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receivables are past due, the financial health of the customer, economic conditions and historical experience. If collectibility is considered
uncertain, then the Company will record a reserve to reduce the receivable to the amount considered collectable. If circumstances change, then
further adjustments could be required.

Warranty Obligations

The Company s products are generally subject to warranties, and the Company provides for the estimated future costs of repair, replacement or
customer accommodation at the time of sale as an additional cost of the sales. Management s estimates are based on historical costs for warranty,
and are adjusted when circumstances indicate that future costs are expected to vary from historical levels. If actual product failure rates or
material usage incurred differ from the Company s estimates, then revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required.

Inventory Valuation

The Company reviews inventory quantities on hand and adjusts for excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on historical usage rates and
its estimates of product demand and production. Actual demand may differ from our estimates, in which case the Company may have
understated or overstated the provision required for obsolete and excess inventory, which would have an impact on the Company s operating
results.

The Company also reviews the carrying value of inventory for lower of cost or market on an individual product or contract basis. Analyses are
performed based on the estimated costs at completion and if necessary, a provision is recorded to properly reflect the inventory value of the
products or contracts at the lower of cost or net realizable value (selling price less estimated cost of disposal). If estimated costs are different
than originally estimated, the provision adjustment would have an impact on the Company s operating results.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition costs over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired. The Financial Accounting Standards

Board ( FASB ) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , which requires that
amortization of goodwill cease and that the Company evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets annually, or more

frequently if events or changes in circumstances, such as a decline in sales, earnings or cash flows, or material adverse changes in the business

climate, indicate that the carrying value of an asset might be impaired. Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the net book value of a

reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The Company s six operating divisions comprise the reporting units.

Fair values are established using a discounted cash flow methodology (specifically, the income approach). The determination of discounted cash
flows is based on the Company s strategic plans and long-range forecasts. The revenue growth rates included in the forecasts are the Company s
best estimates based on current and anticipated market conditions, and the profit margin assumptions are projected based on the current and
anticipated costs structures.
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The Company performs an annual evaluation for the impairment of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, based on expectations of
non-discounted future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the operating division in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets . The Company s cash flow estimates are based upon historical cash flows, as well as management
projections of future cash flows in connection with the annual Company wide planning process, and include a terminal valuation based upon a
multiple of earnings before interest expense, depreciation and amortization expense and income taxes ( EBITDA ). The Company estimates the
EBITDA multiple by reviewing comparable company information and other industry data. The Company believes that its procedures for
estimating gross future cash flows, including the terminal valuation, are reasonable and consistent with current market conditions.

Effect of Merger on Financial Results

As aresult of the Merger, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were adjusted to reflect fair value, and the excess of the purchase price over
the fair value was recorded as goodwill. The revised fair values significantly impacted the Company s results of operations subsequent to the
Merger and their comparability to the results of operations of the Predecessor. The most significant purchase accounting adjustments and their
effect on results of operations are discussed below:

Customer backlog was valued at $17.5 million. Customer backlog was amortized over the 12-month expected
product delivery schedule of the contracts in backlog at the Merger closing date. Customer backlog amortization was
$12.1 million in fiscal year 2004, $4.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, and $1.0 million in the second
quarter of fiscal year 2005.

Property, plant and equipment valuation was increased by $38.7 million. Operating income will be charged
approximately $3.1 million per year for the next 4 years, and at a reduced rate thereafter, for additional depreciation
from the increased valuation of property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
useful lives of 5 years to 25 years.
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Technology-related intangible assets were valued at $58.5 million. Operating income will be charged
approximately $1.9 million per year for the next 14 years, and at a reduced rate thereafter, for the amortization of
technology-related intangible assets. Technology-related intangible assets are depreciated over useful lives of 15 to
50 years.

Land lease intangibles were valued at $11.8 million. Operating income will be charged approximately $0.3
million per year for the remaining 44 years of the land lease. The Predecessor had a land lease with a net book value
of $20.3 million that was being amortized over 55 years at a rate of $0.5 million per year. Thus, the effect on future
operating income is a reduction in amortization expense of $0.2 million per year.

Deferred tax liabilities were increased by $46.5 million. Merger-related deferred tax liabilities were $37.8
million at July 1, 2005. As the revalued assets noted above are charged to operating income, their expense is not
deductible for income tax purposes. The deferred tax liability is charged against the income tax provision as the
revalued assets are charged to operating income. In effect, revalued assets are being charged to net income on an
after-tax basis.

Orders

Incoming order levels fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis, and a particular quarter s order rate may not be indicative of future order
levels. In addition, the Company s sales are highly dependent upon manufacturing scheduling, performance and shipments and, accordingly, it is
not possible to accurately predict when orders will be recognized as sales.

Market segment orders are summarized as follows (in millions):

39-Week Period Ended

July 1, 2005 July 2, 2004

Percentage of Percentage of

Amount Total Orders Amount Total Orders
Radar $ 80.9 32% $ 81.4 37%
Electronic Warfare 22.8 9% 22.6 10%
Communications 87.1 34% 58.6 27%
Medical 42.0 16% 32.9 15%
Industrial 17.5 7% 15.0 7%
Scientific 4.5 2% 9.4 4%
Total orders $ 254.8 100% $ 219.9 100%

Orders recorded in the 39-week period ending July 1, 2005 were $254.8 million, an increase of $34.9 million, or 16%, from $219.9 million in
the comparable period of fiscal year 2004. The increase primarily relates to increases in the communications, medical and industrial markets,
partially offset by a decrease in the scientific market. Orders in the radar and electronic warfare markets did not change significantly from fiscal
year 2004 to 2005. The Econco acquisition represents $8.7 million of the orders increase, while the remaining increase of $26.2 million was due
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to growth from our existing business.

Orders in the communications market for the 39-week period ending July 1, 2005 increased $28.5 million, or 49%, from the comparable period
of fiscal year 2004. The increase in communications orders was attributable to the continued strength in orders for the direct-to-home broadcast
market, orders for Econco products, and a large order from an international customer for traveling wave tubes used for terrestrial microwave
relays. Orders in the medical market for the 39-week period ending July 1, 2005 increased $9.1 million, or 28%, from the comparable period of
fiscal year 2004. The increase in medical orders was primarily due to the continued strength in orders for VEDs used in cancer therapy and x-ray
generator systems and power supply products used in x-ray imaging systems, and the acceleration of orders for our Eimac division due to its
upcoming relocation from our San Carlos, CA facility to our Palo Alto, CA facility. Orders in the industrial market for the 39-week period
ending July 1, 2005 increased $2.5 million, or 17%, from the comparable period of fiscal year 2004. The increase in industrial orders was
primarily attributable to orders for Econco products, partially offset by lower demand for products by semiconductor equipment companies.
Orders for products sold in the scientific market for the 39-week period ending July 1, 2005 decreased $4.9 million, or 52%, from the
comparable period of fiscal year 2004. The decrease in scientific orders was primarily attributable to the receipt of a $3.8 million order in the
first 39-week period of fiscal year 2004 for high frequency, high power gyrotrons for fusion research, which did not recur in the comparable
period of fiscal year 2005. Orders in the scientific market, our smallest market, are historically one-time projects and can fluctuate significantly
from period to period.

Order backlog consists of firm orders for which goods and services are yet to be provided. As of July 1, 2005, the Company had an order
backlog of $190.6 million compared to an order backlog of $176.6 million as of July 2, 2004. Order backlog decreased during the third quarter
of fiscal year 2005 by $9.4 million from $200.0 million as of April 1, 2005. Although orders can be and sometimes are modified or terminated,
the amount of modifications and terminations has historically not
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been material compared to total contract volume.

Results of Operations

Fiscal Year

CPI Holdco s fiscal years are the 52- or 53-week periods that end on the Friday nearest September 30. The Successor s fiscal year did not change
from that of the Predecessor. Fiscal year 2005 comprises the 52-week period ending September 30, 2005, and fiscal year 2004 comprised the
52-week period ended October 1, 2004.

Quarter Ended July 1, 2005 Compared to Quarter Ended July 2, 2004

Operating results for the third quarters of fiscal year 2005 and 2004 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Quarter Ended Quarter Ended
July 1, 2005 July 2, 2004
Percentage Percentage of
Amount of Sales Amount Sales

Sales $ 87.6 100.0% $ 72.3 100.0%
Cost of sales 57.8 66.0 49.1 67.9
Amortization of acquisition related
inventory write-up 1.3 1.8
Gross profit 29.8 34.0 22.0 30.4
Research and development 1.9 2.2 1.9 2.6
Selling and marketing 4.7 54 39 54
General and administrative 5.8 6.6 5.0 6.9
Amortization of acquisition related
intangibles 0.5 0.6 4.7 6.5
Acquired in-process research and
develpment 0.0 9.0) (12.4)
Operating income 16.8 19.2 15.5 21.4
Interest expense, net 5.7 6.5 3.8 53
Income before taxes 11.1 12.7 11.7 16.2
Income tax expense 4.4 5.0 0.2 0.3
Net income $ 6.7 7.6% 11.5 15.9%
Other Data:
EBITDA (a) $ 19.2 21.9% $ 214 29.6%

() EBITDA represents earnings before provision for income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and
amortization. Other companies may define EBITDA differently and, as a result, the Company s measure of EBITDA
may not be directly comparable to EBITDA of other companies. Management believes that the presentation of
EBITDA provides useful information to investors regarding the Company s results of operations because it assists in
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analyzing and benchmarking the performance and value of the Company s business. Although management uses
EBITDA as a financial measure to assess the performance of the Company s business, the use of EBITDA is limited
because it does not include certain material costs, such as interest and taxes, necessary to operate the Company s
business. EBITDA should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, net income in accordance with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ( GAAP ) as a measure of performance or net cash provided by operating
activities in accordance with GAAP as a measure of liquidity. For reconciliation of EBITDA to Income before taxes,
see Note 8 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sales.

The following table compares total sales by market segment for the quarter ended July 1, 2005 to the quarter ended July 2, 2004 (dollars in
millions):

Quarter Ended
July 1, 2005 July 2, 2004
Percentage of Percentage of
Amount Total Sales Amount Total Sales
Radar $ 28.3 32% $ 28.7 40%
Electronic Warfare 8.5 10% 7.3 10%
Communications 294 34% 18.6 26%
Medical 13.6 16% 11.0 15%
Industrial 6.2 7% 4.5 6%
Scientific 1.6 2% 2.2 3%
Total sales $ 87.6 100% $ 72.3 100%

Sales for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 of $87.6 million were $15.3 million, or 21%, higher than the prior year s level of $72.3 million.
The sales increase was primarily related to increases in the communications, medical and industrial markets. The Econco acquisition represents
$3.2 million of the sales increase, while the remaining increase of $12.1 million was due to growth from our existing business.
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Communications sales of $29.4 million in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $10.8 million, or 58%, higher than the third quarter of fiscal
year 2004, primarily due to the increased shipment of direct-to-home broadcast amplifiers and VED communication products. Medical sales of
$13.6 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $2.6 million, or 24%, higher than the third quarter of fiscal year 2004, primarily due
to increased shipments of VEDs used in cancer therapy and magnetic resonance imaging systems, and x-ray generator systems and power supply
products used in x-ray imaging systems. Industrial sales of $6.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $1.7 million, or 38%, higher
than the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 primarily due to additional sales from Econco.

Gross Profit. Gross profit of $29.8 million, or 34.0% of sales, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $7.8 million
higher than the prior year s level of $22.0 million, or 30.4% of sales. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to
higher sales volume, incremental gross profit from the Econco operation in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005, and
purchase accounting charges of $1.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 that did not occur in fiscal year
2005.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses of $1.9 million for the third quarter of fiscal year
2005 were consistent with the $1.9 million expense for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses of $4.7 million, or 5.4% of sales, for the third quarter of
fiscal year 2005 were $0.8 million higher than the $3.9 million, or 5.4% of sales, for the third quarter of fiscal year
2004. The increase in selling and marketing expenses in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 was primarily due to
additional costs to support the increase in sales volume and incremental costs for the Econco operation.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses of $5.8 million, or 6.6% of sales, for the third
quarter of fiscal year 2005 were $0.8 million higher than $5.0 million, or 6.9% of sales, for the third quarter of fiscal
year 2004. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Company incurred stock-based compensation expense for
performance stock options, moving and rearranging costs associated with the relocation of the San Carlos, California
manufacturing division to Palo Alto, California and incremental costs for Econco.

Amortization of Acquisition-Related Intangibles. Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles of $0.5 million for the third
quarter of fiscal year 2005 consists of purchase accounting charges for acquisition-related intangible assets.
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles of $4.7 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 consists of $3.9
million for purchase accounting charges for customer backlog and $0.8 million for amortization of other
acquisition-related intangibles. Customer backlog was fully amortized in January 2005, while the other
acquisition-related intangible assets will continue to be amortized over the next 4 to 49 years. Amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles is expected to be approximately $0.6 million per quarter through fiscal year 2018.

Acquired In-Process Research and Development. The acquired in-process research and development credit of $9.0 million for
the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 represents an adjustment to the previously estimated fair value of $11.5 million
for acquired in-process research and development projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had

95



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

no alternative future use as of the Merger closing date.

EBITDA. EBITDA for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 was $19.2 million, a decrease of $2.2 million compared to
$21.4 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. The decrease in EBITDA from fiscal year 2004 to 2005
resulted primarily from the a $9.0M acquired in-process and development credit adjustment in fiscal year 2004,
partially offset by higher gross profit in fiscal year 2005. For a reconciliation of EBITDA to income (loss) before
taxes, see Note 8 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense, net, of $5.7 million, or 6.5% of sales, for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 was
$1.9 million higher than the $3.8 million, or 5.3% of sales, for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. Higher interest
expense for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 compared to the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to
interest expense for the FR Notes issued on February 22, 2005.

Income Tax Expense. The Company recorded income tax expense of $4.4 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005,
an increase of $4.2 million, compared to $0.2 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. The effective tax rates
were approximately 40% and 2% for the third quarter of fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively. The primary reason
for the lower income tax expense in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 was an adjustment of the second quarter tax
provision related to non-deductible acquired in-process research and development, which was decreased by $9.0
million when the purchase price allocation was finalized in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004.

Net Income. The Company recorded net income of $6.7 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2005, a decrease of
$4.8 million compared to $11.5 million for the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. Lower net income for the third quarter
of fiscal year 2005 compared to the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 is primarily due to a $9.0M acquired in-process
and development credit in fiscal year 2004, offset partially by improved operating performance in fiscal year 2005.
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Nine Months Ended July 1, 2005 Compared to the Nine Months Ended July 2, 2004

Operating results for the first nine-months of fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Nine-months Ended Nine-months Ended
July 1, 2005 July 2, 2004 (b)
Percentage Percentage
Amount of Sales Amount of Sales
Sales $ 245.8 100.0% $ 217.9 100.0%
Cost of sales 162.9 66.3 147.1 67.5
Amortization of acquisition related
inventory write-up 0.4 0.2 5.5 2.5
Gross profit 82.6 33.6 65.3 30.0
Research and development 5.2 2.1 5.5 2.5
Selling and marketing 13.4 5.5 11.3 52
General and administrative 15.7 6.4 14.6 6.7
Merger expenses 6.4 2.9
Amortization of acquisition related
intangibles 6.9 2.8 8.1 3.7
Acquired in-process research and
develpment 2.5 1.1
Operating income 41.4 16.8 16.9 7.8
Interest expense, net 14.5 5.9 15.7 7.2
Income before taxes 26.9 10.9 1.2 0.6
Income tax expense 10.7 4.4 1.2 0.6
Net income $ 16.1 6.6% $ 0.1 0.0%
Other Data:
EBITDA (a) $ 53.1 21.6% $ 29.0 13.3%
(a) EBITDA represents earnings before provision for income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization. Other companies may

define EBITDA differently and, as a result, the Company s measure of EBITDA may not be directly comparable to EBITDA of other companies.
Management believes that the presentation of EBITDA provides useful information to investors regarding the Company s results of operations
because it assists in analyzing and benchmarking the performance and value of the Company s business. Although management uses EBITDA as
a financial measure to assess the performance of the Company s business, the use of EBITDA is limited because it does not include certain
material costs, such as interest and taxes, necessary to operate the Company s business. EBITDA should be considered in addition to, and not as a
substitute for, net income in accordance with GAAP as a measure of performance or net cash provided by operating activities in accordance with
GAAP as a measure of liquidity. For reconciliation of EBITDA to Income before taxes, see Note 8 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(b) Represents the combined pro forma results of CPI Holdco for the 23-week period ended July 2, 2004 and the Predecessor for the
16-week period ended January 22, 2004. Since the basis of accounting for CPI Holdco and the Predecessor are not the same, the combined pro
forma results are not in accordance with GAAP.

Sales.
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The following table compares total sales by market segment for the nine-months ended July 1, 2005 to the nine-months ended July 2, 2004

(dollars in millions):

Nine-months Ended

July 1, 2005 July 2, 2004
Percentage of Percentage of
Amount Total Sales Amount Total Sales
Radar $ 83.9 34% $ 86.2 40%
Electronic Warfare 21.3 9% 19.9 9%
Communications 76.8 31% 57.4 26%
Medical 39.3 16% 31.7 15%
Industrial 18.0 7% 14.8 7%
Scientific 6.5 3% 7.9 4%
Total sales $ 245.8 100% $ 217.9 100%

Sales for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 of $245.8 million were $27.9 million, or 13%, higher than the prior year s level of $217.9
million. The sales increase was primarily related to increases in the communications and medical markets. The Econco acquisition represents
$9.0 million of the sales increase while the remaining increase of $18.9 million, or 9%, was due to growth from our existing business.

Communications sales of $76.8 million in the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 were $19.4 million, or 34%, higher than the first nine-months
of fiscal year 2004, primarily due to increased shipment of direct-to-home broadcast amplifiers, VED communication products and additional
sales from the Econco operation. Medical sales of $39.3 million for the first nine-
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months of fiscal year 2005 were $7.6 million, or 24%, higher than the first nine months of fiscal year 2004, primarily due to increased shipments
of VEDs used in cancer therapy and magnetic resonance imaging systems, and x-ray generator systems and power supply products used in x-ray
imaging systems.

Gross Profit. Gross profit of $82.6 million, or 33.6% of sales, in the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 was $17.3
million higher than the prior year s level of $65.3 million, or 30.0% of sales. The increase in gross profit was primarily
due to higher sales volume in fiscal year 2005 and merger purchase accounting charges of $5.5 million for
amortization of acquisition-related inventory write-up in fiscal year 2004.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses of $5.2 million, or 2.1% of sales, for the first
nine months of fiscal year 2005 were $0.3 million lower than fiscal year 2004 due to additional engineering efforts on
customer-funded development contracts rather than Company-funded research and development programs in fiscal
year 2005.

Selling and Marketing Expenses. Selling and marketing expenses of $13.4 million, or 5.5% of sales, for the first nine
months of fiscal year 2005 were $2.1 million higher than the $11.3 million, or 5.2% of sales, for the first nine months
of fiscal year 2004. The increase in selling and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2005 was primarily due to additional
costs to support the increase in sales volume and incremental costs for the Econco operation.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses of $15.7 million, or 6.4% of sales, for the first
nine months of fiscal year 2005 were $1.1 million higher than $14.6 million, or 6.7% of sales, for the first nine months
of fiscal year 2004. During fiscal year 2005, the Company incurred incremental costs for the Econco operation, and
moving and rearranging costs associated with the relocation of the San Carlos, California manufacturing division to
Palo Alto, California.

Merger Expenses. Merger expenses of $6.4 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004 consisted of fees paid to
investment bankers, legal expenses, transaction bonuses for management, and transaction fees paid pursuant to the
Management Services Agreement with Leonard, Green & Partners, L.P., an affiliate of the former holder of a majority
of the common stock of the Predecessor. These expenses were incurred in connection with the Merger.

Amortization of Acquisition-Related Intangibles. Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles of $6.9 million for the first
nine months of fiscal year 2005 is $1.2 million lower than the first nine months of fiscal year 2004. Amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles consists of purchase accounting charges, primarily for customer backlog and other
intangible assets. Customer backlog was fully amortized in January 2005 while the other acquisition-related
intangible assets will continue to be amortized over the next 4 to 49 years. Amortization of acquisition-related
intangibles is expected to be approximately $0.6 million per quarter through fiscal year 2018.
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Acquired In-Process Research and Development. Acquired in-process research and development expense of $2.5 million for
the first nine months of fiscal year 2004 represents the estimated fair value of acquired in-process research and
development projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future use as of the
Merger closing date.

EBITDA. EBITDA for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 was $53.1 million, an increase of $24.1 million
compared to $29.0 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004. The increase in EBITDA from fiscal year
2004 to 2005 resulted primarily from higher gross profit in fiscal year 2005 and the write-off of acquired in-process
research and development and Merger expenses in fiscal year 2004. For a reconciliation of EBITDA to income (loss)
before taxes, see Note 8 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense, net, of $14.5 million, or 5.9% of sales, for the first nine months of fiscal year
2005 was $1.2 million lower than the $15.7 million, or 7.2% of sales, for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004.
The decrease in interest expense in fiscal year 2005 is primarily due to fiscal year 2004 interest costs associated with
the early redemption of the Predecessor s 12% Notes and the write-off of capitalized debt issue costs related to
outstanding debt at the time of the Merger, partially offset by additional interest expense for the FR Notes issued on
February 22, 2005.

Income Tax Expense. The Company recorded income tax expense of $10.7 million for the first nine months of fiscal year
2005, an increase of $9.5 million, compared to income tax expense of $1.2 million for the first nine months of fiscal
year 2004. The effective income tax rates were 40% and 95% for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The change in income tax expense is primarily due to non-deductible acquired in-process research and
development and other purchase accounting charges related to the Merger recorded in the first nine months of fiscal
year 2004.

Net Income. The Company recorded net income of $16.1 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005, an
increase of $16.0 million compared to $0.1 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004. Higher net income
for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year 2004 is primarily due to higher gross profit due to
increased sales in fiscal year 2005 and merger expenses in fiscal year 2004, partially offset by higher income tax
expense recorded in fiscal year 2005.

Financial Condition

The Company generated net cash from operating activities of $15.3 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005,
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compared to $19.7 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004. The $4.4 million decrease in net cash from operating activities for the
first nine months of fiscal year 2005 compared to the first nine months of fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to increases in inventory and
accounts receivable in fiscal year 2005, partially offset by the increase in net income, excluding non-cash charges in fiscal year 2005. The
increase in accounts receivable was due to increased sales, and the increase in inventory was due to increased product delivery requirements in
fiscal year 2005, each as compared to fiscal year 2004.

Investing activities used net cash of $27.4 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005, compared to $115.4 million for the first nine
months of fiscal year 2004. Investing activities for first nine months of fiscal year 2005 include $18.3 million for the purchase of Econco and
$8.9 million for the purchases of property, plant and equipment, primarily in connection with the relocation of the San Carlos production facility
to Palo Alto, California. Investing activities for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004 consists primarily of the purchase of the Predecessor s
net assets.

The Company s continuing operations typically do not have large capital expenditure requirements. Capital expenditures are generally made to
replace existing assets, increase productivity, facilitate cost reductions or meet regulatory requirements. Excluding fiscal year 2005 anticipated
capital expenditures of approximately $12 to $14 million related to the relocation of the San Carlos, California facility to Palo Alto, California,
the Company expects the level of capital expenditures in fiscal year 2005 to be consistent with fiscal year 2004 levels.

Financing activities used net cash of $11.2 million for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005, compared to $106.1 million provided by
financing activities for the first nine months of fiscal year 2004. Financing activities for the first nine months of fiscal year 2005 consist
primarily of a $75.8 million distribution to stockholders of CPI Holdco, $9.6 million repayments on CPI s senior term loans, $3.5 million of debt
costs incurred to issue the FR Notes and $1.0 million paid as collateral under the interest rate swap contract, partially offset by the $79.2 million
of gross proceeds from the issuance of FR Notes. The term loan repayments included $3.9 million of required annual repayments and an
optional prepayment of $5.7 million.

Working capital was $66.6 million at July 1, 2005 compared to $72.4 million at October 1, 2004, representing a decrease of $5.8 million during
the first three quarters of fiscal year 2005. The decrease in working capital was primarily due to the $18.3 million paid to purchase Econco s
common stock and higher interest payable, partially offset by increases in accounts receivable and inventory.

On July 1, 2005, CPI had $17.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, compared to $40.5 million on October 1, 2004. Cash balances in excess of
operating requirements are invested daily in federal securities.

The following table summarizes future minimum principal payments on outstanding debt and minimum rentals due for certain facilities and
other leased assets under long-term non-cancelable operating leases as of July 1, 2005 (in thousands):

Due in Fiscal Years

Description 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total
Debt obligations $ 16,044 268,956 285,000
Noncancellable operating

leases 309 610 427 356 338 3,838 5,878
Total cash obligations $ 309 610 427 356 16,382 272,794 290,878
Standby letters of credit $ 4,710 4,710
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The Company uses forward exchange contracts to address the foreign currency risk associated with anticipated manufacturing costs in Canada.
As of July 1, 2005, CPI had outstanding forward contract commitments to purchase Canadian dollars for an aggregate U.S. notional amount of
$18.1 million; the last forward contract expires on March 10, 2006. At July 1, 2003, the fair value of unrealized foreign currency forward
contracts was $1.8 million and the unrealized gain was approximately $1.2 million, net of related tax expense. The Company anticipates
recognizing the entire unrealized gain in operating earnings within the next twelve months.

In April 2005, the Company expanded its use of derivatives to address the interest rate risk associated with the FR Notes which mature on
February 1, 2015. On April 15, 2005, the Company entered into an $80 million interest rate swap contract ( the Swap ) to receive variable rate
6-month LIBOR interest and pay 4.15% fixed rate interest. The Swap is for semi-annual interest payments, beginning with interest payments
due on February 1, 2006, and the contract matures on January 31, 2008. The Swap is designated as a cash flow hedge under SFAS No. 133, and
the gain and loss from changes in fair value is expected to be highly effective at offsetting the gain or loss from changes in fair value of the FR
Notes attributable to changes in interest rates over the contract period. As of July 1, 2005, the Company had paid $1.0 million as collateral for
the Swap, which is included as Other Long-term Assets in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of collateral
fluctuates based on the fair value of the Swap. The unrealized gains and losses from the Swap contract are included in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. At July 1, 2005 the fair value of the Swap was not material. The
Company anticipates recognizing the unrealized gain or loss on the Swap over the contract
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period to effectively replace the variable interest rate on the FR Notes with the fixed interest rate of the Swap.

The Company s liquidity is affected by many factors, some of which are based on normal ongoing operations of our business and others related
to uncertainties in the markets in which we compete and global economies. We believe that cash and cash equivalents on hand, cash expected to
be generated from operations and borrowing capability under our senior credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Company s cash
requirements for the next 12 months.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments ( EITF 03-01 ). EITF 03-01 provides guidance on other-than-temporary impairment
models for marketable debt and equity securities accounted for under SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities and non-marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method. The EITF developed a basic three-step model to evaluate
whether an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired. The Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) issued EITF 03-01-1 in
September 2004, which delayed the effective date of the recognition and measurement provisions of EITF 03-01. The Company does not expect
the adoption of EITF 03-01 to have a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 , which is the result of the FASB s
project to reduce differences between U.S. and international accounting standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility costs, abnormal freight,
handling costs, and amounts of wasted materials (spoilage) be treated as current-period costs. Under this concept, if the costs associated with the
actual level of spoilage or production defects are greater than the costs associated with the range of normal spoilage or defects, the difference

would be charged to current-period expense, not included in inventory costs. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 151 in the beginning

of fiscal year 2006 and its adoption is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company s results of operations or financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets An amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, which
eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of
nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 153 for nonmonetary asset exchanges
occurring in the first quarter of 2006 and its adoption is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company s results of operations or
financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ( SFAS No. 123R ). SFAS No. 123R requires
companies to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to
employees, but expresses no preference for a type of valuation model. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the intrinsic value-based method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations, that the Company
currently uses. As a nonpublic entity as defined by SFAS No. 123R, the Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the beginning of fiscal
year 2007. The Company has not yet determined the impact of applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which clarifies that an entity
is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value can be reasonably estimated even
though uncertainty exists about the timing and (or) method of settlement. The Company is required to adopt Interpretation No. 47 by the end of
2006. The Company has not yet determined the impact of applying the provisions of Interpretation No. 47.
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In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. SFAS No. 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20,

Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statement, and changes the requirements for the
accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 154 for accounting changes and
error corrections in fiscal year 2007. The Company s results of operations and financial condition will only be impacted by SFAS No. 154 if it
implements changes in accounting principle that are addressed by the standard or corrects accounting errors in future periods.

ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
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The Company operates in a dynamic and rapidly changing environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties. The following
section describes some, but not all, of these risks and uncertainties that we believe may adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. This section should be read in conjunction with the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
thereto, and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained elsewhere in the Form 10-Q.

The company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Company s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the fair value of long-term fixed interest rate debt and the
interest rate swap contract. Generally, the fair value of fixed-interest rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates

rise. The Company has an $80 million interest rate swap contract ( the Swap ) to receive variable rate 6-month LIBOR interest and pay 4.15%
fixed rate interest. The Swap is for semi-annual interest payments, beginning with interest payments due on February 1, 2006, and the contract
matures on January 31, 2008. As of July 1, 2005, the fair value of the Company s long-term fixed rate debt was approximately the same as the
carrying value and the unrealized loss on the swap contract was not material.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The majority of the Company s revenue and expense activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, the Company incurs expenses, and
receives limited revenue, in other currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, the British pound, the Euro, the Australian dollar and the Swiss
franc. The Company s results of operations can be impacted through foreign currency exchange rate risk (a) to the balance sheet components
(assets and liabilities) and (b) through its impact to foreign denominated expenses, primarily in Canada. The Company limits its foreign currency
exchange rate risk to the balance sheet components primarily through natural hedging (offsetting foreign currency payables with foreign
currency receivables). The most significant exposure to foreign denominated expenses is in Canada, where the Company enters into forward
contracts in an effort to reduce, but not eliminate, the impact of foreign currency rate movements. The fair value of forward contracts is subject
to foreign currency risk.

ITEM 4: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Management, including the Company s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures with respect to the
information generated for use in this report. Based upon, and as of the date of that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal
financial officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurances that information required
to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission s rules and forms.

There have been no changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company s most recent fiscal
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 108
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None.

ITEM 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

ITEM 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS. 109
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None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

111



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

112



Edgar Filing: HHGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC - Form 10-Q

None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. 113
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None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION. 115
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None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
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Exhibit

No. Description

31 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

32 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CPI HOLDCO, INC.

By: /s/ O. Joe Caldarelli
0. Joe Caldarelli
Chief Executive Officer
Date: August 12, 2005

By: /s/ Joel Littman
Joel Littman
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: August 12, 2005
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